PROVIDER PERCEPTIONS OF PATIENT CARE IN TELEMEDICINE: EXPLORING TECHNOLOGY FEATURES AND AFFORDANCES, PRESENCE, AND SOCIAL SUPPORT

By

Katharine M. Mitchell

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Information and Media – Doctor of Philosophy

ABSTRACT

Telemedicine, the delivery of health care services via technology, has been in use since the 1950s. Since then, the development of telemedicine technologies has increased exponentially, with research supporting the effectiveness and satisfaction of the technology but also noting key barriers for full utilization. However, during the COVID-19 pandemic, there was a massive increase in dependence on telemedicine, which highlighted the need for a thorough examination of the provider-patient interaction within a mediated environment. Past telemedicine research has considered this interaction from the patient's perspective. However, the interpersonal aspects of the technology-mediated interaction from the provider's perspective have not been fully considered. In particular, the provider's perspective of the effectiveness of the social support they can provide to patients via telemedicine has not been explored. Social support is a key factor in provider- patient interactions and has been associated with positive health outcomes for patients. The objective of this study is to characterize health care providers' perceptions of providing social support to patients during a telemedicine clinical visit. Using a qualitative approach, this study explored the technology features and affordances of telemedicine technology that may influence social support within provider-patient interactions from the perspective of medical providers. Findings indicate that technology features such as video, screen share, and chat trigger affordances such as synchronicity, reciprocity, and movability. The features and affordances of telemedicine have both positive and negative impacts on presence and social support.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

There are a number of people who have played a pivotal role in helping me complete my dissertation. I would like to take this opportunity to express how deeply grateful I am to each of them. Dr. Bree Holtz is my committee chair. Thank you for your years of dedicated support in helping me develop into an independent researcher. I would not be here without your guidance and encouragement. You have given me every opportunity to learn both as a scholar and also as a person. I consider you my chair, my mentor, and my friend. For all of those things, I am forever grateful. To my committee members, Dr. Kelly Hirko, Dr. Amanda Holmstrom, and Dr. Maria Molina, thank you for the invaluable knowledge you instilled in me during this process. Dr. Hirko, you are always kind, helpful, and available. Our experience together on the Rural Queens Research Team has been such an asset to my dissertation work. Dr. Holmstrom, you have supported my educational journey since I was a fledgling undergraduate. Your expertise in social support inspired me then and continues to inspire my work to this day. You challenge me to think theoretically as a researcher should. Thank you! Dr. Molina, thank you for being patient with me as I struggled to disentangle theoretical concepts. Without your direction and kindness, I would not have made the exciting connections in my work that I believe sets it apart from the existing literature.

To my friends and cohort members, thank you for the comradery that is so necessary to take on the challenges of a doctoral program. This wouldn't have been possible without you. I would like to say a special thank you to Jiyoun Shin, Robin Adams, and Victoria Nelson. I am forever grateful for the friendships we formed as a result of this program. I would also like to thank Sierra Moore who assisted me with establishing reliability in coding the interviews conducted for this dissertation. You were such a pleasure to work with!

iii

Thank you to the sponsors who funded this work. The research conducted in this dissertation was supported with funding from the Charles J. Strosacker Graduate Research Fund for Health and Risk Communication in the Michigan State University College of Communication Arts and Sciences and the Norman Kagan Endowment for Graduate and Professional Studies. The financial support of emerging thought is imperative to the growth of our collective knowledge.

Next, I would like to acknowledge the support of my family. First, thank you to my parents. Mom, my ambition to work hard comes not only from your parenting, but from the example you set as a hardworking woman. I am proud to be like you, and I could not have done this without your love and support. Dad, you knew before I did that I would obtain a PhD. Thank you for always believing in me. I'm going to spend some time enjoying this accomplishment, but you know it won't be long before I'm asking myself, 'what's next?'. To my sister, Johanna, thank you for being my greatest cheerleader. So much about this process has tested me and you have always been there to remind me of my capabilities. I am so thankful for our close relationship. Steven, my loving and encouraging husband, from the moment we met, you have inspired me to work hard. When I first approached the idea of going to school (again!), you had no hesitation. Your calmness and ability to see reason through my, often, dramatic expressions of stress and uncertainty are a major reason for my success. Thank you for loving me unconditionally through this experience. To Kelly Shock, for I could not have done this without knowing my children were loved and cared for. Thank you for not only being our caregiver, but an essential member of our family. Lastly, I want to dedicate this dissertation to my girls, Madison and Allison. To prove to them that you can be and do anything you set your mind and heart to.

iv

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION1	
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	1
CHAPTER 3: AIMS AND RESEARCH QUESTIONS2	6
CHAPTER 4: METHODOLOGY2	7
CHAPTER 5: RESULTS	1
CHAPTER 6: DISCUSSION	8
CHAPTER 7: CONCLUSION6	9
REFERENCES7	0
APPENDIX A: INTERVIEW GUIDE	7
APPENDIX B: DEMOGRAPHIC MEASURES9	0

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

The COVID-19 pandemic triggered many changes, including an increased reliance on telemedicine. This dependence on telemedicine during the pandemic has sparked new conversations about access, usability, and satisfaction of telemedicine from the perspective of patients (Holtz, 2021), but also from the perspective of medical providers. Research has shown that medical providers generally have high satisfaction of using telemedicine (Cottrell et al., 2018) and that they perceive numerous benefits for their patients who use health technologies (Holtz et al., 2019). However, little is known about the current provider perspective of telemedicine use beyond their thoughts on reimbursement, liability, technical challenges, and licensure/credentialing (Nguyen et al., 2020). Under- studied are their perspectives on their ability to provide social support in a synchronous mediated environment as interpersonal skills often fall to the wayside (Meuter et al., 2021). The objective of this study is to characterize health care providers' perceptions of providing social support to patients in a telemedicine clinical visit.

Telemedicine is the delivery of health care services via technology and includes video consultations, email, and electronic medical records (Whitten, Holtz, & Nguyen, 2010). Research suggests that telemedicine improves clinical outcomes and that both patients and providers are predominantly satisfied with telemedicine (Aashima et al., 2021; Bishop et al., 2013; Nguyen et al., 2020; Ramaswamy et al., 2020; Whitten, Holtz, & LaPlante, 2010; Whitten & Holtz, 2008; Whitten & Mackert, 2005). Since 2020, there has been a significant expansion in the use of telemedicine as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and in an effort to reduce rates of virus transmission (Doarn & Merrell, 2020; Gold et al., 2021; Holtz, 2021). There is also evidence to suggest that telemedicine is here to stay with CMS adding two new telemedicine billing codes and extending the use of existing codes for many disease management categories to the final rule

for 2024 (HCCA, 2023). This shift in care delivery led to considerations about workflow and reimbursement. However, less attention has been paid to the communication impacts of providing care in a mediated environment. Specifically, support-giving in a virtual environment such as telemedicine likely looks different compared to in-person care. To better understand how telemedicine may impact social support, it is crucial to ask providers about their experiences and feelings around social support within a telemedicine context and about their experiences communicating and building relationships with patients in a mediated environment.

Some have argued that technology hinders communication between providers and their patients (Gold et al., 2021; Nies et al., 2021), while other work suggests some aspects of technologies may have a positive impact on communication (Kalyanaraman & Wojdynski, 2015; Sundar et al., 2015; Walther, 1996). Identifying and exploring provider perceptions of the features and affordances of telemedicine that have a positive impact on supportive communication is also crucial. Affordances are properties of a technology that suggest ways in which the system could be used and what that use provides to the user (Sundar et al., 2015), and this work explores how telemedicine affordances may influence communication outcomes related to social support. In addition, the proposed project considers the role of presence (i.e., the sense that virtual objects are actual objects) in the relationship between telemedicine affordances and outcomes of social support.

The following section presents a literature review of the topics of interest for this project including, social support, telemedicine, computer-mediated communication, technology features and affordances, and social presence. Based on this literature, the research questions are presented. The subsequent sections include the methods for the proposed study, expected outcomes, and potential implications.

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1. PROVIDER-PATIENT SOCIAL SUPPORT

Provider-patient communication is the exchange of information between a medical provider and their patient (Gao et al., 2009). The goal is to have a mutual understanding between the provider and the patient on health status and plan for care. Effective provider- patient communication involves relationship building, gathering information, considering the patient's perspective, providing information, and making good clinical decisions (Cole & Bird, 2013; Makoul, 2001). Provider-patient communication is central to the health care process (Matusitz & Spear, 2014). The quality of this communication is a key factor in the effectiveness of care and has known associations with patient satisfaction, compliance, and better health outcomes (Bensing, 1991; Duberstein et al., 2007; Jensen et al., 2010). Communication between providers and their patients has been noted as one of the most essential components of health care because of the potential for impacting all aspects of care (Matusitz & Spear, 2014). Existing literature suggests that there is potential for improvement in communication between providers and their patients (Hack et al., 2005). However, evidence suggests communication skills can be learned and these skills can have long-lasting positive impacts on the provider-patient relationship (Fallowfield & Jenkins, 2004).

One specific form of communication, *supportive communication*, is a key factor in positive provider-patient interactions and has been associated with positive outcomes of both mental and physical health for patients (e.g., Gao et al., 2013; Uchino, 2006; Zhou et al., 2021). In addition, providing social support can be rewarding and stress-reducing (Inagaki & Orehek, 2017). Social support has various definitions, with a basic one defining it as "an exchange of resources between at least two individuals perceived by the provider or the recipient to be

intended to enhance the well-being of the recipient," (Shumaker & Brownell, 1984, p. 13). While others state that supportive communication is "verbal and nonverbal behavior produced with the intention of providing assistance to others perceived as needing that aid," (MacGeorge et al., 2011, p. 317). For this study, social support is defined as enacting verbal and nonverbal behaviors to help patients by understanding their experiences and perspectives (MacGeorge et al., 2011; Nazione et al., 2020).

Providing social support through supportive communication can create connection and build relationships. In general, patients want to feel personally connected to their physicians (Cunningham & Barbee, 2000), yet there is evidence that patients do not perceive receiving adequate support from their providers (Salmon, 2000). Providing social support is considered a prosocial behavior in which providers recognize the needs of the intended recipient and feel they have the necessary skills, self-efficacy, motivation, and resources to provide support (Shumaker & Brownell, 1984). However, providers may lack critical communication skills such as listening, empathy, and attending to non-verbal communication (Ranjan et al., 2015). Similar to general provider-patient communication (Fallowfield & Jenkins, 2004), supportive communication skills can be taught.

Gaining these skills is critical, as research indicates that engaging in supportive communication with patients can improve the provider-patient relationship (Cunningham & Barbee, 2000). Despite the potential for providers to learn how to provide effective social support, it can still be challenging because the social support exchange between two individuals is complex, with many factors influencing support giving, support receiving, and outcomes of the support. It is crucial to elucidate the factors that are most influential in the support process. In addition to the factors that may influence social support giving, the types of support that are

given within a provider-patient context are important to explore. The following sections overview social support types with examples of what each specific type of support could look like in provider-patient relationships.

2.1.1. SOCIAL SUPPORT TYPES

Problem-focused support and emotion-focused support are the two overarching categories of social support, each containing more specific types of support (Goldsmith & Albrecht, 2011). Instrumental and informational support are two types of support within the problem-focused support category. Emotional and esteem support are two types of support within the emotion-focused support category (see Table 1). The following sections will explain each of these support types within the context of provider-patient social support.

Instrumental: Instrumental support includes helping behaviors such as giving one's time, skill, or resources. Informational: Informational support includes providing information and advice.
Emotional: Emotional support includes the expression of love, trust, and empathy and is intended to provide comfort to and relieve distress of the recipient. Esteem: Esteem support focuses on promoting the skills, abilities, and intrinsic value of the recipient.

2.1.1.1. PROBLEM-FOCUSED SUPPORT IN PROVIDER-PATIENT RELATIONSHIPS

Problem-focused support includes two specific forms of support: instrumental support and

informational support (Goldsmith & Albrecht, 2011). Benefits from instrumental and

informational support are typically contingent on the recipient's problem or needs.

2.1.1.1.1. INSTRUMENTAL SUPPORT

Instrumental support includes helping behaviors such as giving one's time, skill, or

resources (Tardy, 1985). Patients often require tangible aid such as money, transportation, or

childcare in order to get care for themselves and adhere to medical advice (D J Goldsmith & Albrecht, 2011). This form of support is typically provided by individuals in their interpersonal support network. However, in the provider-patient relationship, providers may have the ability to provide instrumental support by offering telemedicine visits in order to limit certain types of barriers a patient may face to attend an in-person visit (D J Goldsmith & Albrecht, 2011). For example, a provider may learn that their patient must travel a long geographic distance to seek their care and the patient delays the frequency of their visits because of lack of transportation (Jordan et al., 2021). The provider can support this patient by providing access to care via telemedicine. Providers also have the ability to enhance their patient's access to other health resources, such as reputable websites with disease management information, informational handouts, online or in-person health-focused support groups and other resources.

2.1.1.1.2. INFORMATIONAL SUPPORT

Informational support typically refers to providing advice (Tardy, 1985). Informational support from providers can help patients make informed decisions about their healthcare (Goldsmith & Albrecht, 2011). Providers can help their patients understand complicated information such as the side effects of a medication or evaluating risks of medical treatments and provide suggestions for how to move forward (Ford et al., 1996). However, many recipients of advice react poorly when they perceive it as critical or controlling (Bodie & Burleson, 2008; Goldsmith & Fitch, 1997). Yet, a provider's role is to provide informational support or advice so these negative effects have been shown to be tempered in this relationship type (Anderson et al., 2021), but advice to patients could be accompanied by additional messages of support, in particular emotion-focused support, to ensure that patients feel fully supported by their provider (Goldsmith & Albrecht, 2011).

The added value of emotion-focused support has been a particular focus with the rise of patient-centered care compared to the more paternalistic practice of medicine (Eklund et al., 2019). The patient-centered perspective requires the medical provider to consider the patient in a holistic manner, consider them as a unique human being, and involve them in the process of their care decisions (Eklund et al., 2019). Patient-centered care and communication (e.g., showing empathy and responsiveness to the emotional needs of the patient) has been noted as the key factor in patient satisfaction in general, particularly within telemedicine (Mason, 2022).

2.1.1.2. EMOTION-FOCUSED SUPPORT IN PROVIDER-PATIENT RELATIONSHIPS

Emotion-focused support includes expressions of empathy, concern, belonging, esteem, and comforting (Goldsmith & Albrecht, 2011). Emotion-focused types of support are applicable within a wider variety of situations than problem-focused support and include emotional support and appraisal or esteem support.

2.1.1.2.1. EMOTIONAL SUPPORT

The essential element of emotional support is caring (Tardy, 1985). Emotional support includes the expression of love, trust, and empathy. Emotional support messages are intended to provide comfort to and relieve distress of the recipient (Goldsmith & Albrecht, 2011). Emotional social support often falls under the study of empathy in the medical field (Nazione et al., 2020). Throughout the current study, emotional social support and empathy will be used interchangeably. It's important to note that emotional social support and empathy are not completely equivalent concepts. However, many providers conflate emotional support with network support and are better able to understand the concept of emotional support when thinking of empathetic communication and behaviors providers may use toward their patients (Nazione, 2013). Negative emotions and affective distress that often accompany the illness

experience can be addressed by providers by delivering emotional support to their patients (Burleson & Holmstrom, 2008). However, this is likely influenced by the context (e.g., telemedicine) in that delivering tangible emotional support likely looks different via telemedicine. Emotional support can also promote coping and self-esteem as well as improve the quality of the relationship between the provider and their patient (Burleson & Holmstrom, 2008). Messages that are emotion-focused and high in verbal person-centeredness, which acknowledge and legitimize the feelings of the patient are typically seen as more helpful and effective (Bodie & Burleson, 2008; Goldsmith & Albrecht, 2011; Holmstrom et al., 2015). Although emotional support may require greater skill on the part of the provider, this type of support has the potential to be very effective particularly when the patient desires support from their provider.

2.1.1.2.2. ESTEEM SUPPORT

Esteem support often refers to evaluative feedback (Tardy, 1985) and is focused on promoting the receiver's skills, abilities, accomplishments, and intrinsic value (Holmstrom, 2012; Ko et al., 2013). A form of emotion-focused support, esteem support can enhance how the recipient feels about themselves and their abilities (Holmstrom & Burleson, 2011). A need for this type of support stems from when an individual makes an internal attribution (i.e., explanations about the person, such as their traits, abilities, and physical characteristics) regarding the upsetting event they are faced with, and it results in the individual experiencing shame, embarrassment, and guilt. Patients who need esteem support likely feel fault over the illness that they are confronting or may have low self- efficacy in managing the illness. It is possible that the distance created by a mediated space such as telemedicine may actually be an advantage in these types of situations because the provider may idealize the patient, have increased self-awareness and greater control over their self-presentation, and increased intensity

of communication (Miller, 2017; Walther, 1996).

2.2 TELEMEDICINE

The development of new health technologies has a profound impact on the providerpatient interaction in that the exchanges between providers and patients using mediated electronic devices, such as telemedicine, are likely to increase (Weiner, 2012). Telemedicine includes the delivery of health care services over a variety of technologies including video consultations, email, and electronic medical records (Whitten, Holtz, & Nguyen, 2010). For the current study, telemedicine is defined as the synchronous interaction between a person and a provider using audiovisual telecommunication technology.

2.2.1. TELEMEDICINE HISTORY

Telemedicine has been in use since the 1950s, but in the 1990s, telemedicine use and research flourished (Brennan et al., 2008). The amplified focus on telemedicine was driven by advancements in data networks and connectivity, as well as new tools like video conferencing, email, and patient portal applications. Despite the excitement around the potential of telemedicine during the early years, few conclusions were drawn about the specific role or effects of telemedicine mainly because of practical limitations (Bashshur, 1995; Whitten, Holtz, & LaPlante, 2010).

From the 1990s to 2019, much of the focus of telemedicine research included patient perspectives and satisfaction of the technology (F. Mair & Whitten, 2000), clinical outcomes associated with telemedicine use (Kruse et al., 2017; Whitten, Holtz, & LaPlante, 2010), as well as provider satisfaction and barriers to telemedicine use (Mair et al., 2005; Varkey et al., 2008; Whitten et al., 2007; Whitten & Buis, 2008; Whitten & Holtz, 2008; Whitten & Mackert, 2005). Although research suggests that telemedicine improves clinical outcomes and that both patients and providers are predominantly satisfied with telemedicine, many barriers such as reimbursement concerns and technology issues continue to impact the adoption of telemedicine (Bishop et al., 2013; Whitten, Holtz, & LaPlante, 2010; Whitten & Buis, 2008; Whitten & Holtz, 2008; Whitten & Mackert, 2005). These barriers remain a focus of telemedicine research.

Early in 2020, the United States joined other countries in facing the implications of the global coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. COVID-19 is a highly transmittable virus that affects lung cells and produces pneumonia-like symptoms (Velavan & Meyer, 2020). To date, it is estimated that 53,275,589 individuals in the US have been infected with COVID-19 (CDC, 2021b), and approximately 814,819 deaths of US citizens can be attributed to COVID-19 between the years of 2020-2021 (CDC, 2021a). During this time, there was a significant expansion in the use of telemedicine in an effort to reduce rates of virus transmission (Doarn & Merrell, 2020; Gold et al., 2021; Holtz, 2021). In fact, the pandemic essentially forced health systems to use telemedicine because of the need to social distance as a precaution against exposure to the virus (Doarn & Merrell, 2020; Gold et al., 2021). Some clinics reported less than 25% of providers used telemedicine before the pandemic but during the height of the pandemic that grew to rates as high as 95% (Metzger et al., 2021). Furthermore, providers indicate high satisfaction with telemedicine and a desire for telemedicine to make up a significant portion of their clinical practice even post-pandemic (Gentry et al., 2021; Holtz, 2021; Nies et al., 2021). The increased rate of provider uptake as a result of the pandemic and high provider satisfaction with telemedicine coupled with the fact that approximately 91% of American adults report owning at least one technology that gives them access to the internet, indicates great potential for continued use of telemedicine post-pandemic (Henry, 2020; Pew Research Center, 2021).

These are positive findings, but there remain concerns among some providers (Nies et al.,

2021). Worries include inadequate patient care, lack of physical interaction with the patient, and technology issues (Connolly et al., 2020). Some providers have indicated there will not be a necessity to use telemedicine post-pandemic (Nies et al., 2021). Other providers felt that particular medical situations are actually more efficient when conducted via telemedicine and should continue to be used post-pandemic. Some example situations include some follow-up visits, medication refills, urgent care, and for the convenience of patients. These findings speak to the significance of implementing evidence-based practices to ensure successful telemedicine programs (Gold et al., 2021). Although this historic event may be the key to telemedicine becoming common practice in health care, questions remain about implementation and adoption challenges, and provider perceptions of care quality, including support giving, that must be addressed.

2.2.2. BENEFITS OF TELEMEDICINE

Telemedicine has evolved over the past several decades with rapid uptake during the COVID-19 pandemic (Doarn & Merrell, 2020; Gold et al., 2021; Holtz, 2021; Kichloo et al., 2020). Research both prior to the pandemic (e.g., Hjelm, 2005) and since the pandemic (e.g., Jordan et al., 2021) demonstrate there are many benefits to telemedicine.

Early research on telemedicine indicates some evidence that physician productivity was enhanced using telemedicine systems (Doermann et al., 1975) and that telemedicine reduced health-care costs (Hjelm, 2005). Cost reduction likely results from decreased missed appointments, lower wait and visit times, preventable hospitalizations as well as less readmissions (Breen et al., 2010; Everett & Kerr, 2010; Iqbal et al., 2017; Jordan et al., 2021; Lua & Neni, 2012). Telemedicine also has the potential to reduce pressure on hospitals, which has been critical during the height of the pandemic. In fact, one study found that telemedicine helped to avoid 90% of hospitalizations in a pediatric infectious disease department (Esposito et al., 2020). Other noted benefits include improved patient access to information and services (Hjelm, 2005) and increased delivery of care (i.e., more frequent visits) (Hjelm, 2005; Jordan et al., 2021). Perhaps most importantly, there appears to be an overall tendency of improved patient health outcomes (Bradbury et al., 2016; Dias et al., 2016; Everett & Kerr, 2010; Hatcher- Martin et al., 2020; Levy et al., 2015; Whitten, Holtz, & LaPlante, 2010).

Despite an abundance of evidence that telemedicine provides useful economic and clinical outcomes, the majority of existing research lacks generalizability, which indicates a need for further research in telemedicine (e.g., Hailey et al., 2002). Furthermore, implementation and adoption challenges remained key factors in telemedicine outcomes even after the start of the COVID-19 pandemic (NCI, 2024). Although the pandemic has forced many health systems to quickly remove these barriers and find ways to overcome these challenges, many still remain. 2.2.3. TELEMEDICINE IMPLEMENTATION AND ADOPTION CHALLENGES

Although there are numerous positive clinical and satisfaction-related outcomes of telemedicine, there remain barriers to successful implementation and adoption of telemedicine (Bishop et al., 2013; Whitten, Holtz, & LaPlante, 2010; Whitten & Holtz, 2008; Whitten & Mackert, 2005). Issues of reimbursement, legal liability, data security, technical, and organizational issues are frequently noted barriers (Scott Kruse et al., 2018; Whitten, Holtz, & LaPlante, 2010; Whitten & Holtz, 2008). Results from one study found that organizational issues (e.g., staffing and technology support) created significant provider burden (Whitten & Mackert, 2005). Last, telemedicine is not for every patient or clinical situation (Jordan et al., 2021; Whitten et al., 1998), which may create a burden on the providers in determining which patients should be candidates for receiving care via telemedicine.

These challenges likely lead to some provider perceptions that delivering care via telemedicine is more complicated than to in-person care (Bishop et al., 2013). In addition, a lack of training likely negatively impacts telemedicine adoption in that providers and clinical staff do not have the capacity to self-teach without being offered clinical time off to learn how to use the system (Perry et al., 2020). Even when the noted barriers have been minimized or eliminated, the challenges of telemedicine adoption remain (Whitten & Mackert, 2005). Although many providers have positive perceptions of telemedicine technologies, there still remain a number of providers with less enthusiastic rates of acceptance (Garavand et al., 2022; Whitten & Mackert, 2005) and resistance to change (Bishop et al., 2013), which seem to be key barriers that extend beyond reimbursement, and organizational and technical issues. It is likely that it is a combination of factors that lead to barriers with adopting telemedicine platforms in health care. Therefore, it is critical to gain comprehensive insight into provider perceptions of communicating with patients via telemedicine and the features of the technology that may impact the outcomes of the supportive interaction within telemedicine.

2.3. COMPUTER-MEDIATED COMMUNICATION

At its conception, computer-mediated communication (CMC) was a byproduct of the internet (i.e., linking geographically distant computers together) (Rapaport, 1991; Walther, 1996). CMC use, including phone calls, text messaging, social media, and video conferencing, grew in multiple settings to facilitate group communication needs, as did research around its effectiveness. A key consideration in CMC research is the difference between synchronous communication and asynchronous communication (Cristian, 1996). Synchronous CMC includes communication occurring in real-time through phone calls, text messaging, social media, and video conferencing. Asynchronous CMC is delayed communication and is most often reflected

by text-based communication. Much of the interpersonal CMC literature focuses on asynchronous, text-based communication (Walther, 1996). However, more current work, and the work proposed here, focuses on synchronous CMC, specifically video-based communication (Rains et al., 2017; Scott & Fullwood, 2020).

Two main schools of thought have emerged from research on the effectiveness of interpersonal CMC. From one perspective, CMC is thought to have fewer interpersonal features (e.g., fewer cues and a higher propensity for conflict) than face-to-face (FtF) communication (Garton & Wellman, 1995; Walther et al., 1994). In opposition to the depersonalized perspective, there is support for CMC's potential to create a hyperpersonal environment (Carr, 2020; Walther, 1996). The next two sections will expand on these two different viewpoints on the interpersonal nature of CMC.

2.3.1. IMPERSONAL PERSPECTIVE

When communicating via technology was first developed, the need to achieve taskfocused goals (i.e., decision-making oriented tasks) was the main focus, which prompted the development of the impersonal perspective (Walther, 1996). The impersonal perspective of CMC suggests a reduction of non-verbal cues and fewer interactive components compared to communicating FtF, which this perspective argues, diminishes interpersonal connection (Culnan, & Markus, 1987). In other words, there is less social presence (i.e., feeling as though virtual social actors are actual social actors, see section 2.5 below for more information on presence) and fewer non-verbal cues in CMC (Walther, 1996).

Non-verbal cues, such as vocal tone, body posture, and eye contact can help convey a sense of warmth and help to establish rapport and trust with patients (Hill & Gormally, 1977; Tepper & Haase, 1978). Enacting non-verbal cues effectively via telemedicine can be more

challenging (Faucett et al., 2017; Sauppé & Mutlu, 2014), but patients look for non-verbal cues from their providers to help understand what is verbally communicated and discern the feelings their provider has about them (Faucett et al., 2017). However, there are examples of when cues filtered out may be beneficial for interaction. For example, some undesirable cues (e.g., shaky hands) may be hidden even in synchronous video, which could help bolster the support giver's confidence (Scott & Fullwood, 2020), particularly when discussing difficult or uncomfortable topics (Sobczak, 2023). CMC exchanges that are impersonal lack social interaction and are often primarily focused on completing tasks, which may lead to more profane behavior. However, it is important to note that cues filtered out and impersonal interactions are not necessarily mutually exclusive. In fact, having an environment with reduced cues may potentially lead to a hyperpersonal exchange rather than an impersonal exchange because the mediated environment allows users more control over their non-verbal behaviors.

2.3.2. HYPERPERSONAL PERSPECTIVE

Although there is support for the ability of CMC to be impersonal, much of the research suggests that CMC has the potential to achieve interpersonal levels and may even result in hyperpersonal exchanges (Walther, 1996). Interpersonal CMC exchanges are thought to closely resemble FtF interactions. The hyperpersonal perspective of CMC is used to describe interactions that are more socially desirable than FtF exchanges (Walther, 1996). There are four features that contribute to achieving hyperpersonal CMC: Idealization of the receiver, augmented self-presentation of the sender, asynchronous communication channel, and the ability for increased intensity of reciprocal information exchange. Social information processing (SIP) theory (Walther, 1992) focuses primarily on the last feature of increased intensity of information exchange and posits that the exchange of social information is important for increasing intimacy

in relationships. The hyperpersonal perspective doesn't necessarily argue against the idea that CMC reduces cues, but instead argues that the reduction in cues allows interactants to control and manipulate their self-presentation to appear more preferable, therefore providing a greater ability to control cues compared to FtF interactions. Individuals can be more deliberative in creating friendly and knowledgeable impressions.

Much of the existing work on the hyperpersonal perspective focuses on text-based, asynchronous communication. Therefore, this perspective may not hold true with more rich mediums such as synchronous video (Scott & Fullwood, 2020; Wu et al., 2022). However, similar to the traditional hyperpersonal perspective, there are differences between video and FtF communication, which suggests a potential for achieving hyperpersonal communication. Traditional, text-based CMC hides differences about the individuals in the interaction from one another that would be more easily detected and more salient through FtF interaction (Walther, 1996), but this can also be true in synchronous video-based CMC. For example, an advantage of video-based CMC is being located physically distant yet still able to communicate in real-time. In other words, video- based CMC still has cues filtered out even though it's less filtered out than phone or text (Rains et al., 2017; Scott & Fullwood, 2020). This may result in bolstered confidence and the ability to reach a more hyperpersonal communication interaction. There is some evidence to suggest that idealization and interpersonal connection, which are key to the hyperpersonal text-based perspective (Spears, & Lea, 1992), can also be experienced via video (Ruppel et al., 2017). This is an area of CMC research that warrants deeper investigation particularly within the context of providing social support, which will be discussed in greater detail below.

2.3.3. HYPERPERSONAL CMC AND SOCIAL SUPPORT

The possibility for interactions taking place in synchronous video CMC to reach hyperpersonal interaction likely has important consequences on giving and receiving social support within synchronous telemedicine consultations. CMC may create feelings of a safer environment to communicate within, and some research argues that as a result, social support provided via CMC can be equivalent and perhaps even superior to FtF social support (Caplan & Turner, 2007; Robinson & Turner, 2003). Patients communicating with their providers through CMC have the ability to receive care and social support in their home, which may create an ideal environment for support to occur because they likely feel less self-conscious and more comfortable (Rains et al., 2017). Furthermore, CMC may be particularly helpful for those in need of objective information about their illness or treatment (Robinson & Turner, 2003). This objective information can be classified as informational support (Goldsmith & Albrecht, 2011), which is one of the most prevalent types of social support shared in a CMC context (Rains et al., 2015). Although informational support is critical to the provider-patient relationship, emotional support messages are also often shared and are a crucial support type within the illness experience. Furthermore, providing and receiving social support via CMC eliminates geographic barriers that are typical of FtF communication (Walther & Boyd, 2002). For example, instrumental support can be offered by providing telemedicine services to patients who may benefit from not traveling to in-person appointments (Jordan et al., 2021). Each type of social support plays an important role in the provider-patient relationship and CMC can serve as a meaningful conduit for the social support interaction between providers and their patients (Rains & Wright, 2016).

CMC research is primarily focused on two individuals communicating via mediated

channels and the influence that the channel has on various communication outcomes (Walther, 1996). In addition to outcomes of social support discussed in previous sections, outcomes of presence are a focus of this study.

2.4. PRESENCE

Presence is defined as the psychological experience of interacting with virtual objects as though they are actual objects (Lee, 2004). There are three types of presence, which are closely connected to the domains of human experience, they are physical, social, and self. *Physical* presence, often also referred to as spatial presence, is defined as a psychological state when virtual objects are experienced as actual physical objects. Spatial presence is the perceptual illusion of actually "being there" in a virtual environment (Biocca, 1997; Lombard & Ditton, 1997; Riva et al., 2007). *Social* presence is defined as a psychological state in which virtual social actors are experienced as actual social actors. Finally, *self-presence* is defined as a psychological state in which the virtual self is experienced as the actual self. Involvement and realness are additional concepts that are key to achieving a state of presence. Involvement is the attention and awareness to the environment and realness is an individual judgment of the authenticity of the virtual environment compared to the known reality (Hein et al., 2018). Although all components of presence are important to consider within a telemedicine context, the proposed study is particularly concerned with social presence.

Some research argues that social presence is greater in CMC compared to FtF interaction. For example, one study found higher rate of turn taking between medical providers and patients in a telemedicine visit compared to face-to-face visits (Tachakra & Rajani, 2002). It appears that patients felt more empowered to ask questions in the telemedicine visit and that the medical providers took greater time and care in communicating during the telemedicine visit compared to

in-person. This signals the potential for greater involvement during telemedicine compared to inperson care (Hein et al., 2018).

Considerations related to the technology channel (i.e., telemedicine) in which communication occurs are crucial to this study. However, the interaction between each individual and the technology (i.e., channel) is also an important consideration related to the outcomes of patient-provider communication via telemedicine. Therefore, this study aims to explore how social presence contributes to the creation of a hyperpersonal environment from the perspective of providers.

2.5 TECHNOLOGY AFFORDANCES

To understand the individual-technology interaction, particular technology features and the resulting affordances should be identified and assessed. Technology features refer to the capabilities of a technology (Fayard & Weeks, 2014), whereas technology affordances are perceivable properties of a technological system that suggest ways in which the system could be operated and what that operation provides to the user (Sundar et al., 2015). Affordances are exhibited through unique technology features that shape communication between the user and the technology or the interactants within a mediated space such as telemedicine (Sundar et al., 2015; Wu et al., 2022). Each technology affordance, for example, the video feature, provides the user with visibility and synchronicity that establishes a sense of realism, which then shapes the nature of the use of the technology as well as the communication within the technology and of the user's psychology. Importantly, technology features and technology affordances should be considered separate concepts even though they are often conflated in existing research (Fayard & Weeks, 2014). According to Evans et al. (2017), affordances should be considered from a multidimensional perspective. This means not only considering the relationship between the technology and the user, but also how that relationship can potentially facilitate a hyperpersonal environment for providing social support. Taking this perspective on affordances into account is important for the proposed study. The proposed study is focused on how features and affordances may play a role in medical providers achieving a hyperpersonal connection (Walther, 1996) and to provide social support to their patients in a telemedicine visit.

There are four broad categories of affordances, including modality, agency, interactivity, and navigability (Sundar, 2008). In addition, the proposed study explores social presence as an outcome of affordances. *Modality* affordances focus on the medium in which information is exchanged or conveyed by the technology (Molina & Sundar, 2021; Sundar, 2008). *Agency* affordances focus on the variety of sources of information that can be curated within a mediated environment (Molina & Sundar, 2021; Sundar, 2008). Unlike in traditional media sources, new technologies offer the user agency in which they have the ability to receive information from multiple sources and to be the creator of information. *Interactivity* is a key affordance of communication within a mediated environment and is classified into multiple types of interactivity, including the interaction within the technology (i.e., message exchanges), as well as the functionality of the technology, and source interactivity (Molina & Sundar, 2021; Sundar, 2007, 2008; Sundar et al., 2015). *Navigability* affordances are focused on exploring and interacting within the mediated environment and how perceptions and experiences are shaped by this interaction (Molina & Sundar, 2021; Sundar et al., 2015).

Communication technologies like synchronous telemedicine platforms have features and affordances that can have influential, persuasive effects on the relationship between medical providers and their patients (Molina & Sundar, 2021). The proposed study aims to elucidate a richer understanding of how technology features and affordances impact provider perceptions of

the telemedicine technology as well as about the outcomes of supportive communication with patients. In the proposed study, the role of presence (Lee, 2004) is also explored. To begin, each type of affordance and presence will be described in more detail within the context of telemedicine technology.

2.5.1. TECHNOLOGY AFFORDANCES IN TELEMEDICINE

The focus of the proposed work is on the affordances of modality, interactivity, and navigability. Discussion about affordances is often limited to the intended function of the technology (Conole & Dyke, 2004). However, the work presented here is focused on the features as well as the potential resulting affordances that facilitate or impede the effectiveness of telemedicine for supportive communication.

2.5.1.1. MODALITY AFFORDANCES

Modality affordances focus on the medium through which information is delivered and the features of the particular medium (Sundar et al., 2015). Modality affordances include text, audio, video, swiping, gesturing, etc. and they differ in the degree to which they map onto real life. Synchronous telemedicine, for example, has the potential to afford users a high level of realism since the video modality provides real-time interaction between a patient and provider. Although the main modality of synchronous telemedicine is video, the other modalities should be considered in the overall assessment of the user experience of telemedicine because, for example, text-based communication is a feature of telemedicine. The text or "chat" feature available within telemedicine may amplify the interaction further and create an environment for potentially reaching a hyperpersonal interaction. Furthermore, providers have the ability to share their screen with patients via telemedicine. Having multiple modalities has been shown to increase positive perceptions of telemedicine as well as the probability of using telemedicine in

the future (Connolly et al., 2020; Varkey et al., 2008; Whitten & Buis, 2008). Telemedicine modality affordances, such as having the video turned on and meeting synchronously, likely increases presence within the mediated environment, which may lead to greater comfort and trust between patients and providers and thereby creating an environment ideal for social support interactions (Rains et al., 2017; Walther, 1996). Considering Walther (1996)'s hyperpersonal perspective, the modality of telemedicine may create an environment for hyperpersonal communication, increased social presence, and therefore more effective social support. Aside from lacking the ability to touch the patient during the physical exam, the telemedicine visit can essentially be the same as a face-to-face encounter because of the modality features and affordances such as synchronous video and audio provided by telemedicine platforms.

Telemedicine offers the provider with a naturalistic encounter in which they can provide support to their patient. The video modality that is used in telemedicine allows for providers to see most, but not all, of their patient's nonverbal cues and address their communication with their patients in a fluid manner (Sundar et al., 2015). Telemedicine as a modality affords opportunities to affect and be affected because virtual video-based communication is so similar to FtF communication (Vidolov, 2022). Although the telemedicine modality affords providers an environment with a potential for a high amount of presence, there remains a distance between the provider and patient, and it is possible that the mediated environment may allow for better communication with the patient because of the potential for a hyperpersonal encounter as discussed above (Rains et al., 2017; Varkey et al., 2008; Walther, 1996). This study aims to explore this potential within a healthcare context as touch and presence are central to communication between providers and patients (Chang, 2001; Christensen et al., 2023; Kelly et al., 2018).

2.5.1.2. INTERACTIVITY AFFORDANCES

Interactivity is a fundamental affordance of communication technologies, particularly telemedicine (Sundar et al., 2015). Interactivity encompasses the opportunities for users to connect and have reciprocal exchanges of communication with others within the telemedicine environment (Sundar et al., 2015). The critical component for achieving a hyperpersonal interaction via telemedicine is the ongoing reciprocity between the interactants (Rafaeli, 1988; Walther, 1996).

Video consultations have been noted by providers as being a less personable experience compared to FtF consultations because of the inability to touch their patients, which impacts both instrumental and emotional support functions (Gold et al., 2021; Goldsmith & Albrecht, 2011; Nies et al., 2021; Tardy, 1985; Whitten & Mackert, 2005). However, many platforms have developed different interactivity affordances that allow for the expression of support despite the inability to physically touch. For example, the features of sending emoticons and other electronic texting and gestures add detail to the interaction taking place via telemedicine. Furthermore, the synchronous telemedicine environment allows for the expression of nonverbal communication, which has the potential to create a hyperpersonal interaction, possibly increase social presence, and solidify supportive communication from the provider to their patient. Despite the realism that telemedicine provides, provider uncertainty has been noted to be increased around the patient physical exam in the mediated environment (Nies et al., 2021; Whitten & Mackert, 2005). However, the interactivity of telemedicine provides adjustments to the provider's engagement with their patient that, with the proper training, can result in effective gathering of physical exam information and assurance that patients understand their diagnosis and care plan (Kalyanaraman & Wojdynski, 2015; Wong et al., 2021).

Although interactivity is often explored textually, the dialogue via synchronous telemedicine can be akin to interpersonal communication between patients and providers in faceto-face consultations. Interactivity has the potential for providers to develop a strong, potentially hyperpersonal, connection with their patients and explore components of relatedness, which will likely have a positive impact on outcomes of social support (Sundar et al., 2015).

2.5.1.3. NAVIGABILITY AFFORDANCES

Navigability affordances encompass the extent to which users can easily explore the mediated telemedicine environment (Sundar et al., 2015). Affordances related to navigation allow providers to move from one window to another, moving around the screen space while communicating with their patients (Dey-Plissonneau, 2017). This can eliminate the negative interpersonal interaction that takes place in-person when the provider has to look away from the patient and down at their computer. Instead, they may be perceived as making eye contact even if they are switching between windows to chart or review information. However, it could also potentially lower perceived eye contact because it may be noticeable that they are looking elsewhere on their screen. Exploring perceptions of eye contact and other non-verbal behaviors within a telemedicine environment, as discussed in more detail in previous sections, is critical to untangling interpersonal interactions between providers and their patients particularly related to social support within telemedicine.

Navigability affordances also have the potential to build provider-patient competence, which likely leads to more use of the technology (Adams et al., 2021). Research on telemedicine confirms that satisfaction of telemedicine technology improves greatly over time and use (Cunningham, 1978; Higgins et al., 1984; Whitten et al., 2007). Having satisfaction with and being comfortable with using telemedicine has positive impacts on the communication between

the provider and their patient.

While the literature supports the potential for technology features and affordances to influence hyperpersonal communication, presence, and social support between providers and their patients via telemedicine, there is a lack of understanding regarding the specific mechanisms that may be at play.

CHAPTER 3: AIMS AND RESEARCH QUESTIONS

This project explored social support from the perspective of medical providers during a provider-patient interaction via telemedicine. The aim of this study was to comprehend the features and affordances of telemedicine technologies that are and are not beneficial for providers in providing support to their patients, and to investigate how presence may influence the relationship between technology affordances and social support. See Figure 1 below for a visual model of RQ2-3. The following research questions were posed for this study:

RQ1: What are the perceptions and attitudes of healthcare providers toward telemedicine in general and in providing social support to patients via telemedicine?

RQ2: To what extent do specific technology features of telemedicine contribute to health care providers' perceptions of a) telemedicine generally and b) specifically around providing social support?

RQ3: How do specific affordances of telemedicine relate to a) social presence and b) perceptions of social support?

CHAPTER 4: METHODOLOGY

To explore the research questions posed for this study, in-depth interviews with medical providers were conducted to gain insight on giving social support via telemedicine and how they perceive the features and affordances of telemedicine technology.

4.1. PARTICIPANTS

Medical providers from hospitals and clinics in the United States were recruited to participate through study fliers posted on social media, emails through hospital connections, and word of mouth. Study fliers included the researcher's contact information and interested providers sent an email expressing their desire to participate. A short screening questionnaire was sent via email to each interested provider and interviews were scheduled for all individuals who met the inclusion criteria. To be eligible for the study, providers had to be a practicing Medical Doctor, a Doctor of Osteopathic Medicine, a Nurse Practitioner, or a Physician Assistant. Providers had to use currently or have used telemedicine in the past. A total of 25 individuals contacted the researcher. Of those, one provider was ineligible because they had not used telemedicine before. Eight providers met screening criteria but were not able to schedule an interview. Originally, the study aimed to recruit 30 participants. However, data saturation was reached after interviewing 17 participants. Data saturation occurred when additional interviews ceased to yield new insights relevant to our research questions, suggesting that the collected data were sufficient to understand the phenomena under study. Consequently, in adherence to qualitative research principles, further recruitment was deemed unnecessary (de Moura et al., 2022; Hennink & Kaiser, 2022; Saunders et al., 2018).

4.2 INTERVIEW PROCEDURE

Interviews took place during the month of June 2023. Each interview was audio recorded

and transcribed verbatim using Zoom technology. The in-depth interviews were semi-structured and divided into four sections (see Appendix A for the Interview Guide). First, participants were given a definition of social support. This definition characterized social support as the enactment of verbal and nonverbal behaviors to assist patients by understanding their experiences and perspectives (MacGeorge et al., 2011; Nazione et al., 2020). The next section of the interview focused on their perceived benefits and barriers to providing social support to patients via telemedicine. An example question included, "Tell me about your ability to feel empathy for a patient within a telemedicine visit." The third section of the interview probed the participants about the specific technology features and how those features offer benefits or challenges in providing social support. For example, "What technology features (i.e., capabilities of a technology, e.g., ability to chat in Zoom) are important to you in telemedicine?" In addition, questions aimed to understand social presence were asked such as, "How do you feel about the realness of your patient when communicating with them via telemedicine?." In the final section, clinical scenarios were presented, and participants were asked to describe what they would say or do if they were the provider in the scenario. The goal of this section was to explore if types of social support were considered by the participants. An example scenario included:

I am going to read a few short scenarios depicting interactions with patients via telemedicine. These scenarios are examples of patients in a heightened emotional state. As the medical provider, what would you say and/or do in these situations? A 42-year-old man with a history of total hip arthroplasty presented for a new patient visit via telemedicine with complaints of hip pain. One year ago, he had a displaced left femoral neck fracture requiring total hip arthroplasty with subsequent chronic hip pain. His pain was managed by his orthopedist with oxycodone and more recently with

ibuprofen. Recent extensive reevaluation of his hip pain was negative. He requested that you prescribe something stronger like "oxys" for his pain, as the ibuprofen was ineffective. You can tell that he's agitated and is making comments about you not believing that he is still in pain.

The scenarios were developed from multiple sources (American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, 2014; Evidente et al., 2003; National Institute on Drug Abuse, n.d.) and modified to reflect a patient interaction via telemedicine. Participants received a \$100 Amazon gift card as compensation for their time.

In addition to the interview questions and at the end of the interview, participants were asked demographic questions in order to characterize the sample including provider type, medical specialty, length of time in practice, telemedicine use experience and sociodemographic characteristics (see Appendix B). Provider type included medical doctors (MD), doctors of osteopathic medicine (DO), physician assistants (PA), and nurse practitioners (NP). Length of time in practice was measured in years and then categorized into 1) Early-stage providers, which includes medical residents and individuals who have practiced medicine for 5 years or less; 2) Mid-career providers, which includes those who have practiced more than 5 years, but less than 15 years; and 3) Late-career providers, which includes those who have practiced for more than 15 years. To measure the telemedicine use experience, variables included asking participants if they used telemedicine before the COVID-19 pandemic, and if yes, how long before or if their experience with telemedicine began because of the pandemic. Providers were also asked to indicate an estimated amount of their total clinical time is spent seeing patients via telemedicine. Provider sociodemographic characteristics measured included participant age, gender identity, race/ethnicity, zip code, and annual income. See Appendix B for the demographic questions.

4.3. ANALYSIS

Braun and Clarke's thematic analysis method was used to identify and analyze patterns found within the interview data (Braun & Clarke, 2006). An iterative process consisting of six steps was used. The first step is to become familiar with the data, and this included cleaning the transcription documents, reading the data, and organizing the data into the research questions. The lead researcher completed step one. Next, interesting features of the data were systematically organized into the appropriate research question category. This step was completed by the lead and one additional researcher. Both researchers coded a random selection (10%, n = 2) of the transcripts to ensure inter-coder reliability. Themes were then generated by organizing the coding categories into sets of relevant themes within the specific research question. This step was also be completed by the lead, and additional researcher and inter-coder reliability was ensured using an additional selection (10%, n = 2) of the transcripts. The full list of themes was then be reviewed by both researchers to ensure the codes and themes coordinate with the entire data set. Any disagreements were identified and resolved among the two researchers. The lead researcher then created a list of named themes. The other researcher was given an opportunity to review and provide feedback. Lastly, exemplar quotes were selected by the lead researcher to provide an example of the theme and how it relates to the goals of the study.

CHAPTER 5: RESULTS

5.1 PARTICIPANTS

Seventeen participants completed the interview. The majority of participants (n = 13) were female, and the average age of all participants was 36 years (SD = 7.75, range = 29- 59 years). In addition, the majority of participants indicated their race as white (n = 10). Most of the participants indicated their degree as either Medical Doctor (MD) or Doctor of Osteopathic Medicine (DO) (n = 10). There were four participants who were Physician Assistants (PA) and three who were Nurse Practitioners (NP). All participants had been practicing medicine for less than 10 years, and their specialties varied from Neurology (n = 5) to Family Med (n = 3) among others.

In addition to questions to characterize the demographics of the sample, the participants were asked questions about their use of telemedicine. When asked about the number of current visits that utilize telemedicine, seven participants indicated some visits and four indicated about half of their visits. Only one participant indicated having nearly all the visits via telemedicine and five indicated hardly any of their visits took place via telemedicine. The majority of participants planned to use telemedicine in the future (n = 14). See Table 2 for the overall demographics and Table 3 for individual participant demographics.

Participant Demographics (N = 17)	n(%)	
Gender		
Male	4(24)	
Female	13(76)	
Race		
White	9(53)	
Black or African American	1(6)	
Asian	6(35)	
Hispanic, Latino, or Spanish Origin	1(6)	
Age (Years)		
29-35	11(65)	

 Table 2. Participant Demographics and Telemedicine Use

ble 2. (cont'd) 36-45	4(23)		
46-55	1(6)		
56-65	1(6)		
Degree			
Medical Doctor (MD)	5(29)		
Doctor of Osteopathic Medicine (DO)	5(29)		
Nurse Practitioner (NP)	3(18)		
Physician Assistant (PA)	4(24)		
Specialty			
Neurology	5(29)		
Psychiatry	3(18)		
Family Medicine	3(18)		
Urgent Care	1(6)		
Pediatric Gastroenterology	1(6)		
Occupational Medicine	1(6)		
Pulmonology	1(6)		
Surgery	1(6)		
Internal Medicine	1(6)		
Length of Time in Practice			
Resident	1(6)		
Less than 5 years	8(47)		
5-10 years	8(47)		
More than 10 years	0(0)		
Practice Type			
Hospital	10(59)		
Private Practice	5(29)		
Academic Center	1(6)		
Residential Care Center	1(6)		
Telemedicine Use	n(%)		
Telemedicine Use Before COVID Pandemic			
Yes (less than a year before COVID)	3(18)		
No	14(82)		
Number of Visits Currently Using Telemedicine			
Nearly all	1(6)		
A large majority	0(0)		
About half	4(24)		
Some	7(41)		
Hardly any	5(29)		
No visits	0(0)		
Confidence in Using Telemedicine			
Very confident	13(76)		
Somewhat confident	4(24)		
Neutral	0(0)		
Somewhat unconfident	0(0)		

Table 2. (cont'd)

IU	dole 2. (cont d)				
	Very unconfident	0(0)			
	Planning to Use Telemedicine in the Future				
	Yes	14(82)			
	No	0(0)			
	Unsure	3(18)			

5.2 EMERGING THEMES

Participant responses were initially coded into the main research questions. Then, within the research questions, seven main themes emerged, including positive and negative perceptions of telemedicine (RQ1); perceptions of telemedicine technology features in general and for social support (RQ2); and modality, interactivity, and navigability affordances (RQ3). The following sub-sections will be organized by research question with specific themes described within the section and participant quotes used as exemplars. Each quote includes the participant identification number, their gender, and their age.

able 5. Individual Participant Demographics						
ID	Gender	Age	Race	Degree	Specialty	Length of Practice
1	Male	35	White	DO	Psychiatry	Less than 5 years
2	Female	48	White	NP	Pulmonology	Less than 5 years
3	Female	31	White	PA	Family Med	5-10 years
4	Male	31	Asian	PA	Urgent Care	Less than 5 years
5	Male	59	Asian	MD	Psychiatry	Less than 5 years
6	Female	30	White	NP	Family Med	Less than 5 years
7	Female	29	Asian	DO	Family Med	Less than 5 years
8	Female	32	White	PA	Surgery: Trauma	5-10 years
9	Female	40	White	NP	Pediatric	5-10 years
					Gastroenterology	
10	Female	37	White	MD	Neurology	5-10 years
11	Female	41	Asian	MD	Neurology	5-10 years
12	Female	29	Black or	MD	Occupational	5-10 years
			African		Medicine	
			American			

Table 3. Individual Participant Demographics

Table 3. (cont'd)

15	Female	35	White	DO	Neurology	Less than 5 years
17	Female	35	Hispanic,	PA	Psychiatry	5-10 years
			Latino, or			
			Spanish			
			Origin			
19	Female	31	Asian	DO	Neurology	Resident
20	Female	37	White	MD	Neurology	5-10 years
21	Male	32	Asian	DO	Internal Med:	Less than 5 years
					Gastroenterology	

5.3 RESEARCH QUESTION 1

Research question 1 explored the perceptions and attitudes of healthcare providers toward telemedicine in general and providing social support to their patients via telemedicine. Responses fell into two opposing themes including positive perceptions of telemedicine's impact on social support and negative perceptions of telemedicine's impact on social support.

5.3.1. POSITIVE PERCEPTIONS

Accessibility, efficiency, comfortability, and potential for relationship building were benefits noted to impact patients as well as providers. An example of accessibility included a thought from one participant who noted that using telemedicine has improved the number of patients who attend their follow-up appointments:

I think it's [telemedicine] pretty helpful, especially with patients who have a really hard time getting into the office. Whether it's because they have kids and can't find a babysitter or are at work and can't financially afford to take work off. It's opened up a lot of opportunities. And I think it's probably made a difference in our lack of follow ups because it's just simpler and patients are more willing to do it [meet over telemedicine]. (P3, F31)

Other participants agreed, stating, "I feel like telemedicine has opened the door for more options

for care" (P7, F29), as well as, "It (telemedicine) really helps people who otherwise have barriers to getting care. It helps a whole bunch of people who, realistically, if they didn't have a virtual option, would not be getting the care they need" (P11, F41), and:

There's a big positive [to using telemedicine] because in my situation, a lot of my patients don't want to leave the house. They're very severe. And so, leaving the house can, you know, be very difficult for them. So, being able to provide care into their homes is so vitally important. And [telemedicine is] just such an amazing tool. (P6, F30)

Many of the participants also noted that they appreciated the efficiency of telemedicine. For example:

It doesn't utilize the same amount of office time, and the way my staff works is different because the front desk people will make the call versus one of the MAs [medical assistants] who's in the back and rooming other people. So, they can double-book me a little bit easier. We can squeeze people into appointments where we wouldn't have been able to in the office. (P2, F48)

Another participant noted that telemedicine is more convenient for them, they are more efficient and can see a greater number of patients, and they feel good for providing patients with a more convenient way to receive care. This participant said:

It's also sometimes more convenient for me as well. I'm able to see more patients because of that [telemedicine], and oftentimes these patients are happy because of the convenience for them. They'll express like, 'oh, like, you know, this is great. Appreciate you being able to do this virtually. It's kind of a pain to get to the office.' And so that makes me feel good. I enjoy that. (P21, M32)

Another participant talked about how thankful they were for telemedicine:

I'm grateful for it [telemedicine]. It's been a luxury for many reasons, not only for [patients with] no accessibility purposes but I mean even for you know, being a mother and things like that, having other responsibilities, having accessibility to it. And still being able to do something that I'm passionate about outside of my home. It's really a gift and I think, you know, I think when we have these evolving momentous things [like telemedicine] that we need to appreciate them and just try to make the most out of the out of the technology... I'm just grateful for it. (P17, F35)

Comfort for both patients and providers was also noted as a positive perception. For example, one participant said, "The big difference, I think, that the patient would have is that they're at their own home or wherever they are. So, they might be more comfortable" (P3, F31) and "I feel like I can connect with patients quite well and provide the same care [as in-person] and I feel very comfortable doing it" (P3, F31).

Building relationships over telemedicine was also positively noted by one participant: It's kind of wild how much I feel like I can like bond with the patient via a computer and seeing each other through a computer and not in person. I think it's pretty impressive how I feel like I'm just as much able to form that patient- provider relationship via the telemedicine platform just as much as I am doing in person when I was in clinic. (P6, F30)

5.3.2. NEGATIVE PERCEPTIONS

Participants also expressed some negative thoughts about telemedicine. In particular, technology issues were discussed. In addition, participant responses suggest that there is a barrier to empathy and human connection in telemedicine interactions. Technology issues were a frequently noted negative perception of telemedicine. In some instances, providers have to use

less rich forms of telemedicine because the patient does not know how to use the telemedicine features. For example, "[Telemedicine can be] definitely, a lot harder, especially when I have elderly patients that don't know how or don't have access to video. And we've just done phone calls" (P2, F48). That same participant noted that social cues can be lacking because of the technology issues that are present:

Sometimes I feel like they don't understand because of the lack of social cues. The nonverbal and the interrupting, the sound, disturbances that are sometimes there with audio and video, if they have a poor connection. I'm not entirely sure they heard me. Things like that. (P2, F48)

Another participant noted that these technology issues can be time consuming:

It's just kind of working with technology which I'm really not best at so that check that barrier in kind of getting with technology. Some patients that are not tech savvy at all, and you may spend more time trying to help them figure out how to even use the system on their end. (P12, F29)

Even further, a participant noted that visits sometimes have to be ended because of telemedicine, which costs everyone time and resources:

Definitely technological difficulties have been probably the number one barrier especially in in the older population. They have a hard time with technology and then even the younger population, all generations have technical issues. Whether it's Wi-fi issues or a bad connection. So that's probably been a number one barrier to use. I've had to end meetings, rescheduled meetings... (P1, M35)

Many participants indicated that interactions in telemedicine feel less personal, can lack empathy, and are missing true human connection. One participant noted that telemedicine is

more focused on the medical issue stating, "I think it's more straight to the point with telehealth. So, the rapport isn't there" (P4, M31). Another participant felt similarly noting:

I mean, I feel like it's like a very robotic experience when I'm seeing them virtually, like check boxes like, make sure this is the case, make sure they're going to get their meds, make sure they did this. But it's not like a human encounter. (P10, F37)

Interacting in a virtual space feels less human according to another participant:

Just being a virtual thing is not as human as being face to face. So, you know, it [being in person] really does add a little extra just personable [experience]. It's more personable when you're face to face. So, you know the words spoken yes, are the same. But it's just that emotional piece that you're missing virtually. (P12, F29)

Additionally, some participants noted that the lack of humanness created an impersonal exchange. One participant said:

I just feel telemedicine is very impersonal. So, it's not like I could walk in and be like, oh, cute shoes or you know, I really like your purse or sorry we're running late like there's not a whole lot of you know conversation it's very super short. It's informal I would say. (P8, F32)

Another participant agreed stating:

So, like I was saying, telemedicine is less personalized. You really can get a full picture of a person when they're sitting in front of you. Verbal and non-verbal cues, and then in telemedicine, it's just a little bit more difficult. You can hear what they're saying, and look at their expressions on their face, but I feel like it's hard to get as good of a full picture compared to in person. (P19, F31)

Overall, it's possible that this disconnect from humanness impacts the support that is given and

received, "I think there is a component of being in the room with the patient and making them feel so supported and heard that perhaps at times may be missed over telemedicine" (P20, F37). 5.4 RESEARCH QUESTION 2

Research question 2 explored the specific features of telemedicine that influence providers' perceptions about telemedicine generally in addition to providing social support. Each of the features that were noted by participants are discussed in general and about social support in the paragraphs to follow.

5.4.1 PERCEPTIONS OF TELEMEDICINE FEATURES IN GENERAL

Multiple features of telemedicine technology, such as video capabilities, screen share, and chat to name a few, were mentioned by participants as influential to their overall perceptions. The following sections will present each feature mentioned by participants and their general perceptions of each feature.

The video and audio features in telemedicine were described by participants as expected features. For example, one participant said, "Video, audio of course… It's audio and video that is the most important" (P6, F30). The quality of these features was also noted to be important to the interaction via telemedicine:

So, if you have good audio and video quality, I feel like, you know, you can get better communication. And then no lag. It's like less frustrating to the patient, less frustrating to you. So, you can just conduct a visit more smoothly. (P19, F31)

Another feature that many participants noted was the chat feature. Some participants noted that they did not have much use for the chat function when conducting a video telemedicine visit. However, others noted that it was a helpful feature. For example, one participant said, "I think the chat box is helpful, for when we're having technological issues, I can

type in there and say, 'hey, I can't hear you' or 'hey, I'm having XYZ problem'" (P1, M35). Another participant noted the utility of text-based communication stating:

They're always going to ask me how to spell something. You know, I spend a lot of time like maybe, like discussing certain medications and I will ask them to go look it up. They often times ask me to spell it out, and so the chat feature is so nice. I could send them links through the chat feature; I can type out whatever exactly I'm talking about. It makes the conversation flow easier that they don't have to stop and get a piece of paper and write everything down. (P20, F37)

The participants had positive feedback about the screen share feature in general. For example, one participant said, "Screen share is important, like I use that when I'm showing patients their own images" (P10, F37). Another noted that they use this feature often, "Yeah, I use it (screen share) a lot. I think it's really important in neurology" (P20, F37).

Participants indicated mixed feelings about the recording feature. Some participants thought the feature would be really helpful. For example:

I think that if the patient is comfortable with it [recording feature], it could be extremely useful, because it just it can create a record of something, or it can provide a visual record of something that might be important from a care perspective. For example, I mentioned, sometimes we see voluntary movements in patients. So, if we had a recording of that, that's something that I could potentially share with a colleague, you know, if I wanted to consult somebody and get their opinion as to what should be done. That could be very useful. (P5, M59) (See also RQ3, 5.5.1 Modality affordances)

Whereas other participants worried about the implications of recording. "I would never do it. Never. No, no, that I feel like that's you can get in trouble for that in my world so I would never

do it. I wouldn't have a reason to either" (P6, F30).

Other features noted by participants that could be helpful in telemedicine included backgrounds, the ability to control the patient's camera, and drawing tools. One participant said, "I don't use a background. I use whatever background I'm using. But I think it is nice that you can set a photo background to set the, like, professional stage from that perspective. I like that"(P10, F37). One patient noted that it could be helpful to have control over the patient's camera. For example:

I don't know what you would change about this, but you know, doing like an actual neuro exam over telemedicine can be quite challenging and asking the patient. For example, like, you know, steady your camera over here, so I can ask to watch you try. And, you know, do a heel toe walk? It's very difficult, you know, so there are features such as that that would. I don't know what you would change about that something with like the camera or something. (P20, F37)

Lastly, a participant said that drawing tools within the telemedicine would be helpful. "The ability to doodle for them would also be good. I draw on exam paper in person a lot, so I think that would be super helpful" (P9, F40).

5.4.2 PERCEPTIONS OF TELEMEDICINE FEATURES FOR SOCIAL SUPPORT

Similar to the previous section, video capabilities, screen share, and chat were some of the features of telemedicine technology mentioned by participants as being influential to providing social support. The following sections will present the findings of each feature mentioned by participants.

Similar to the general perceptions of the video feature in telemedicine discussed above, some participants indicated that the video increases the connectedness between the provider and

their patient. For example, "I think the obviously the video, like, be able to see somebody and to be able to speak with them. I think really enhances the connectedness that they may feel" (P20, F37) and "I would say that having the video instead of just doing voice call or phone call. Video is extremely important. That'll bring you probably the closest to an in person visit as possible: having video" (P21, M32).

Another participant noted that feeling empathy and knowing when a patient needs support is contingent upon the video feature:

I definitely think this is one area where you know, when you, when I would be in clinic seeing patients, and you know being able to feel empathy. I think no matter what, being able to see them via video. That is not as affected versus seeing a patient in person. I feel like being able to see a video, see how they're reacting. And during conversation, I would have the same amount of empathy as if I was in person with the patient versus if I'm doing telemedicine without video, I think that would be affected, not being able to see their facial expressions and, see if they're shaking, trembling, you know, any of those things. Or seeing if they're disheveled and not taking care of themselves, not showering, you know, all these things you can see through the camera and I think that is very helpful in, you know, having empathy for patients and, being able to see those, you know, thing, those objective things that they're not able to just share with me via maybe a phone call.

(P6, F30)

However, other participants noted that eye contact via video can be a barrier to support and connectedness and that other forms of communication need to be relied upon. For example, one participant said:

I guess in person, I would look for with eye contact as one means of engaging

engagement. Sometimes it can be a little difficult over the camera, just because it's video chat. But I feel like they listen, they respond appropriately, they ask appropriate questions, and that's how I know that, you know, they are engaged. (P7, F29) The chat feature was noted as a tool to provide support to patients. For example:

I do utilize that chat bubble that I talked about earlier a lot, especially in if you know, if I'm starting a new medication, I can type it right out for them, and they could see right

away what it is. If I have directions, I can, you know, type them out, as I'm saying, and they can see everything. (P7, F29)

This is especially helpful because medical terminology can be difficult for patients to comprehend, "I will write it out for them whether it's like what disease or imaging or lab that I was specifically looking at; especially if it's hard to spell" (P21, M32).

The screen share feature was highly touted by many of the participants. For example, one participant stated:

I think it [screen share] could be really useful, because, for example, if I have some lab results or some imaging results, we don't really do imaging much in psychiatry. But just thinking back to monthly experiences I had in my medical rotations. I think that could be really helpful because you can look at something together and you can talk it through. I think that's something that patients are usually really appreciate. When a doctor takes time to go through specific lab results or imaging and point to things and say, you know, this is something important, or you know, I've looked at this, and everything is normal, and you know it all, everything looks as it should. Yeah, I think it's more comforting, I think, to the patient. It helps with support. (P5, M59)

Another participant agreed that the screen share feature adds a dimension of support. This

participant said:

Patients often want to see what may be wrong with them. Like if there's an abnormal finding on an MRI, then 90% of the patients want to see that, and so to spend the time physically go through it - that is really important. And then, you know, additionally, an example would be like an EEG file. If there's some sort of, you know, electrical abnormality on that brainwave study, it's very easy to actually show them instead of describing it. (P20, F37)

A third participant agreed stating:

I mean, for example, if they had a tumor, you could show them the tumor on the radiology images and go through those. I feel like I could share more information with them. It would enhance communication and understanding of their condition. (P19, F31) Another participant noted that the screen share feature has the potential to help build trust between patients and providers:

Well, I think it helps them kinda trust that we know what we're talking about or that we're understanding, you know, what they're going through by kind of showing them and explaining to them the anatomy or why it's happening. You know, one of the main things that I use it for is when people are saying they have back pain that's like radiating and I like to show a picture of the nerves that run through your back and down your leg to kind of explain like this is why you're having that pain because this nerve is doing this. So, I think they kind of just trust that you know what you're talking about and then they can understand what's happening and that helps them understand, you know, maybe why their symptoms aren't better the first day after treatment or you know why it's not just the easy fix. (P3, F31)

Virtual waiting rooms was a feature that one participant noted could be helpful for providing care and support to their patient effectively:

I think an important one is probably having the ability to place certain members in waiting rooms because there are sometimes difficult interactions with families. Often, they are in a separate location, and so you want to talk to one individual by themselves, or I guess individually, and so I think that's really important that we have that ability. There's definitely circumstances where I feel like I need to talk to the patient alone, or even the patient advocate, or a parent of a patient. Whatever the case may be, so I think it's important to be able to separate participants within the zoom call. (P1, M35) Telemedicine as a whole was noted to have an impact on social support. For example: I think it [telemedicine] does [impact social support]. It's improved because in our patients' minds, they know that they can make that appointment. So, offering virtual, they can have a peace of mind knowing that they won't have to either reschedule or skip an appointment just because they can't make it [into the office] and I think that idea alone, that piece of mind, does improve their willingness and in a way, you know the support that they probably feel. (P21, M32)

5.5 RESEARCH QUESTION 3

Affordances of telemedicine were the focus of research question 3. Specifically, the goal was to elucidate if specific telemedicine technology features elicit affordances that relate to social presence and perceptions of social support. Participants reflected on three different categories of affordances including modality, interactivity, and navigability. Within these categories, examples of the technology features, their technological affordance, and the potential influence on social presence and perceptions of social support are presented. Example quotes are

included to support the themes. See Table 4 for each affordance, definition, and a telemedicine example that represents the findings.

Affordance	Definition	Telemedicine	
		Example/Description	
Visibility	Video tool and quality	Allows an inside look into patients' lives and homes	
Dimensionality	Dimensions of the physical virtual space	2D compared to 3D, illusion of togetherness, perception of transcending geographical distance, feeling like the provider is in the same space as the patient	
Mirroring	Ability to see and evaluate one's own expression on the computer screen	The provider watching their own face on the screen while talking or listening to the patient	
Synchronicity	Simultaneous interaction and communication, abstraction, clarity	Providers can talk with patients about their medical needs in real time, Loss of humanness, lower social presence, and lack of touch v Transparency and understanding, Providers feel like the patient isn't a real person; it feels like there's a middleman	
Verifiability	To confirm or substantiate	Providers can record parts of the visit to share with other providers to get feedback	
Reciprocity	Mutual exchange of information	The provider can share their screen to show a patient how to access a resource and then have the patient teach-back or talk through how to access the resource	
Movability	The ability to move around among multiple screens; impacts of perceptions of eye contact	Providers can begin charting while their patient talks	

Table 4. Affordances, Definitions, and Telemedicine Examples and Descriptions

5.5.1 MODALITY AFFORDANCES

The main modality of telemedicine focused on for this work was that of video

capabilities. Participants noted how the quality and dimensional aspects (e.g., two- dimensional, or three-dimensional) of the video feature afford (or do not afford) them with the ability to see and engage with their patients similarly to in person. For example, one participant said, "Video, I would say, would be at least 70% as effective as seeing the person in just because through video calls, sometimes you still miss on obvious cues just because, you know, It's 2D versus 3D" (P4, M31). Visibility was key for another participant who said, "The better the quality of the video, you know, [the better] you can read the patient's body language and facial expressions" (P1, M35). A third participant noted how the video modality feature affords users the illusion of togetherness, transcending the geographical distance. This participant said:

I think the human mind is adept. It's very skilled at basically kind of accepting certain kinds of illusions. You know. For example, when we go to the movies, you know, we can see a flat, 2-dimensional image. And then, you know, perceive it as a 3-dimensional depiction of reality. But there are limitations to that, to that setting, that the filmmaker has to make sure they are aware of to make an effective movie. I think the same thing in telehealth. When you start talking to someone on a telehealth visit, at first it might feel a little bit artificial, but within a few minutes usually both sides are very immersed in the conversation, and you are, you know, you really accept the fact that you're having a meaningful discussion with another person. So, I think that the technology, I think, works really, really well with the human mind and the way it works. (P5, M59)

The participants indicated that the video feature affords users an immersive experience that simulates an in-person interaction and likely influences presence and social support. However, participants noted that despite this positively perceived affordance, there are both positive and negative impacts on the presence they feel as well as the level of presence or

engagement that they receive from their patients. One participant noted that the video platform allows for mirroring, or for them to see their own expressions, which impacts how present and thoughtful they are within the interaction:

I am watching my face to some extent, which is kind of awareness thing which you don't have that input when you're in person, like you can see how you're reacting to them. It's probably in some ways a good cue to remember how to interact with people when you're getting your own face back, looking at you. (P10, F37)

In addition, some non-verbal communication is easily seen, which has positive impacts on presence. However, the video platform may require more intentionality:

I think I might be a little bit more demonstrative with things like, Yeah, you know, hands arms, just, you know, just because it kind of, adds a little when you're together, you know, it's easier to express emotions in just kind of you know, more normal life but sometimes cause you're limited in the range of what the patient can observe. It may help to be a little bit more demonstrative with body language that the patient can see. And I would do that if I thought it helped to emphasize point. (P5, M59)

Yet other participants noted that the lack of presence requires them to spend more time to ensure the patient understands and feels supported:

I think I get a certain feel if someone [the patient] feels a little more detached from the conversation, I might take a little more time with that patient. I might explain things a little bit more in depth or more. There might be some redundancy to make sure they understand what's going on, make sure they heard me. (P1, M35)

The video feature also affords unique visibility and synchronicity in that it gives providers an inside look into their patients' lives in a way that would be impossible to see in the

clinic. For example:

In a telemedicine [visit], you see even what you can't see in person. I mean, most of the time when they're doing it from their home, you can kind of get a gauge of what their background looks like, what their home life looks like. Is, you know, is it kept? I think you can almost see in their lives quite a bit more [than in person] and maybe make you more empathetic. (P3, F31)

Other participants agreed stating:

I can see more sometimes via with telehealth than I could have seen if they came into the clinic if that makes sense. I can see that the background of their house when they say they can't clean their house, I can physically see their background, their house. I can see that it's not clean, you know, and there's a picture into their house that or their life that I wouldn't have seen if I was in person. (P6, F30)

And:

I actually think it's very informative. You know, the examples of like somebody was on the toilet. I was like, okay, I think they have very poor judgment, that is like helpful [to know] that they made that decision to do that. Another time I saw a guy who I think is a truck driver, and he was in a cab of his truck smoking while I'm like talking to him about stroke prevention. Like these are things that you can see in their native environment that you would not see in a clinic...Those are the things that are happening when they're not in my office. (P11, F41)

With this inside look into patients' lives comes the potential for greater distractions. Participants noted that often these distractions take away from the professional nature of the visit and decreases presence despite the technology affordances of visibility and synchronicity that

accompany the video feature. One participant said:

I don't know, sometimes the informal nature that the environment creates. For some patients, they don't take it as serious and are very distracted within the interview, the TV on in the background, or and then patient confidentiality.

Sometimes it is a challenge, you know, we always confirm who's in the room, who's not in the room, but you know often the patient will say no one's in the room right now then you hear somebody, and you just kind of feel, you know, again, it's kind of hard to manage the confidentiality aspect that's kind of up to the patient, despite us trying to confirm that is happening, so that's probably my least favorite. Just the informal nature of it. (P1, M35)

That same participant also gave another example of the lack of professionalism that sometimes accompanies telemedicine visits stating:

The patient's behavior is a little different [in telemedicine]. I've had patients do a Zoom Meeting from a boat, which can go either way as far as bad and good, but patients that are in their pajamas laying down, or there's people that sit at a desk and it's like they're at a meeting, you know. It's interesting to see the perception amongst what is socially acceptable with patients as far as attending a physician or doctor's appointment, and it's just there's a wide array. (P1, M35)

While many participants felt that these distractions were negative, one participant noted that having less of a power dynamic could be a beneficial thing for patient-centered care. This participant said,

But that [power] physicians have in general, that is lost a little, and maybe that's good. Maybe it's good that there's like less of a power dynamic. But I do think there's less of a

power dynamic if you think about like, even like the all the messaging that happens in an office space where somebody's like wearing a white coat, and they're like the doctor, and then there's an MA [Medical Assistant], they're going to take your vitals. And then you're going to be like waiting for the doctor. And then the doctor's going to have all that signaling of like prestige, which is lost when you have a virtual encounter, and maybe that's part of what my patients are reacting to. (P10, F37)

Although the features of telemedicine technology afford visibility and synchronicity in a way that feels comparable to in-person interactions, the mediated nature of interacting through a technological device was noted by multiple participants to create feelings of distance. These feelings of distance appear to be outcomes of the inability to physically touch their patients but is also a result of a loss of humanness or abstraction. For example, one participant commented on the lack of touch, saying:

I think I probably have trouble transferring my empathy to them, because much of what I do is nonverbal it's like nodding. Like I said, if they get teary, I give them Kleenex and we've offered to get them a cup of water, you know. Those are the things, or like pat them on their shoulder. And so, I've done that, you know, during the 10 plus years I've been in attending, but if you can't really do any of that, obviously, virtually, most of what you can do is nodding. (P11, F41)

Another participant agreed particularly in a context in which difficult news was just shared with the patient:

I don't think it really alters the emotional aspect, whether you are doing it [communicating] in telemedicine versus in person. But if you were meeting with somebody who, you know, recently found out they had cancer, or maybe they recently

underwent surgery for their cancer, things like that, and you really wanna dig into providing them emotional support, really providing them that understanding of what their diagnosis was, what their pathology report said. Then, you know, you're kind of missing the emotional connection on telemedicine, whereas in person you could, you know, if there are tears shed, you could reach out your hand or you can really just show that body language that you're displaying empathy. (P12, F29)

This was echoed by another participant who talked about how they have noticed their patients feel differently when human touch is involved:

I feel like when the component of human touch is involved, and with the physical exam, the patients tend to have more comfort that they're being taken care of in a way. Having that [touch] component in person does help with that. They tend to feel a little bit better that 'someone's looking at me,' 'someone's checking me out,' 'someone's telling me that I'm okay or not okay.' (P21, M32)

One participant labeled this experience as a loss of humanness stating:

It's so intangible what happens in a like a human encounter that's in person that it's very hard for me to think of like the right words, for it. But I do feel like there, like the humanism of medicine, is like almost entirely lost doing it virtually. But it's not like an easy thing to say other than well, also that you lose the physical exam, which may or may not matter. I certainly think that there are things get missed when you don't examine patients so that's obviously a problem. But also, the humanism, I guess, of medicine. I think, really, it's hard to replicate that virtually. (P10, F37)

Another participant noted how the technology makes patients feel more abstract:

I think they're [patients] more abstract and perhaps less likely to have a handle on their

medical condition. They don't really feel like a real person at all. For example, the rash patient, you know, they were describing their rash and, I eventually asked them to send me a photo. But the way they were describing it and, you know, playing it off as not really severe. It's just when you see that in real life and you're like oh my god that rash versus when they're talking about, you know, just any other rash or, you know, oh, I have a pimple or, 'it's not that bad' or 'it's just on my side'. It just doesn't really feel official. It feels more casual, I think. (P4, M31)

Another participant agreed that this abstraction makes it difficult to really engage with the patient and have a good handle on what is going on with them. This participant said:

You know, sometimes it's not as easy to determine exactly what's happening with the patient over telehealth. Sometimes they can mask their symptoms more easily in the telehealth environment. So, I think it's very important to be extremely clear with the patient, and if I notice anything, I will ask them about it, whereas I might not ask them in a face-to-face encounter, because it will be very clear to me what's happening, even though the signs are subtle. So, for example, if I see someone who's withdrawn, looking nervous on a telehealth call, I will really want to flesh out just how anxious are they? Are they really preoccupied and worried about something in a very significant way? Whereas if I am with them face-to-face, I might just ask them a question like 'Well, how would you rate your anxiety on a scale from one to 10', and they could give me a numerical answer and I can just look at them and judge whether the number fits everything else I'm saying. But I have seen patients on telehealth visits where follow-up visits showed a different picture that was more severe than what I could see in the telehealth, just because the patient, I think, was trying to, you know, naturally people tend to downplay things

when they're not feeling that well, and in the telehealth situation it's easier to do that than it is in person. (P5, M59)

Another participant noted that it felt like there was a "middleman" in the interaction, which appeared to be their way to describe the outcomes of interacting in a mediated environment. This participant said:

They (patients) definitely feel more abstract (in telemedicine). Really, I mean, just because you're not face to face, you know, you're looking at a 2D image of somebody. And you're really just trying your best to communicate via mode of communication. It's almost like you have a middleman. So yeah, it just doesn't feel as real. (P12, F29) Another participant described is simply as, "It's just you're looking at the computer, not at a

person" (P15, F35).

Although most participants noted that the perceived distance was an affordance of telemedicine that had negative impacts on presence and social support, some participants noted examples of when the distance between users in a telemedicine encounter could be a major benefit. For example, one participant said:

[Telemedicine] can actually make the patient more real to the provider, depending on who the patient is. I'm dealing with a patient that is dangerous [e.g., prisoner]. It's much safer to be in a telehealth setting with that person, and I may actually be much more observant of the person. (P5, M59)

Another participant noted that this distance has the potential to reduce stigma for some patients: Some people are embarrassed, and you know they don't want to come in or they don't want to talk to someone about it. They're not proud of it. So, I think the telemedicine route kind of shields some of that, you know, because you're kind of like hiding behind a

screen in a way. (P8, F32)

The chat modality was another main feature that participants noted affords users clarity that has a positive impact on solving technical issues and giving informational support. One participant said, "The chat box is helpful when the video goes awry, the connection goes awry, it helps to kind of alleviate those issues and try to help hopefully find a solution and get everything back on track" (P1, M35). The chat feature also affords clarity that reduces the potential for miscommunication around medical information. For example:

You know, I think it [chat feature] can be really helpful, because if I'm offering information in that form, it's usually because it's something that patient wants, they have an interest in getting that information. So, by typing it out so that they can see it without any miscommunication. (P5, M59)

Another feature, recording, affords verifiability, or the ability to verify medical decisions and therefore provides increased confidence to providers. For example, one participant said they, "Record the encounter with the patient and if there's anything that we don't ever know, we'll take a picture, and you know ask our colleagues" (P4, M31). Another participant agreed stating:

I think that if the patient is comfortable with it [recording feature], it could be extremely useful, because it just it can create a record of something, or it can provide a visual record of something that might be important from a care perspective. For example, I mentioned, sometimes we see voluntary movements in patients. So, if we had a recording of that, that's something that I could potentially share with a colleague, you know, if I wanted to consult somebody and get their opinion as to what should be done. That could be very useful. (P5, M59)

5.5.2 INTERACTIVITY AFFORDANCES

The participants noted that the screen share and chat features afford reciprocal communication, which may increase patient-centered care. Beyond the visibility and synchronicity of sharing information, which was noted to be a key modality affordance, the screen share feature was noted by participants to afford them an opportunity to show patients how to interact with the resources they have suggested. One participant noted for example, that:

the social support where I showed them the epilepsy foundation website, I'll share my screen and I actually physically pull it up so they can see which buttons to click, and which resources are out there. So again, you know, I think overall, it's a very positive experience. (P20, F37)

This same participant continued along this line of thinking, noting that, "It [screen share] may reinforce their understanding of the diagnosis" (P20, F37). Another participant agreed stating:

I think to a certain extent that (a chat feature) could be helpful, because again, it's just another way to share information, right? So, if I tell them about something, I could also put links to certain websites in the chat or type diagnoses in there so that they could have something to like Google later. So, I think that I mean a chat feature would be helpful. I also think it would be good, so that they could. You know jot down questions, you know. Like, if I'm in the middle of a spiel, and a question pops up, they could jot it into the chat really quick, so that we don't forget about it, and then I could make sure that I go through the chat before I get off with them and make sure I've addressed all of their concerns. (P9, F40)

This reciprocal communication was noted by other participants to have a positive impact on the interaction. For example, "It [screen share] definitely improves the interaction. It gives you

something tangible to look at and talk about. Helps them feel involved" (P2, F48).

5.5.3 NAVIGABILITY AFFORDANCES

Telemedicine technology affords users movability, or the ability to move around among multiple screens while appearing to continue eye contact with the patient. For example, one participant noted:

I do think that I myself am very distracted when I'm on there, I'm like, 'Oh, let me check [this other thing]'. Like they're talking about something, and I'm like, 'Okay, well, I can like, go look at their labs while they're talking'. [This can be done] virtually because it's like they won't see me, and they will not know. And I like we'll just go look at their logs, and like, they'll be going to certain things while they're talking. To be honest, which is terrible, but it's like it's possible to do without looking bad. (P10, F37)

One participant noted that eye contact is just different in telemedicine, "Especially now with technology, you know, most people are pretty used to that screen [viewing]. So, you know, they kind of realize that they might be looking at you, although it doesn't look like they're looking at [them]" (P3, F31). However, that same participant noted that the affordance may actually have a negative impact on social support. They said:

Trying to connect but I would say that maybe this is just me but it's easier for me to I'm sure it looks more to them that I'm just looking at the computer and typing as they talk when it's more to them that I'm just looking at the computer and typing as they talk when it's virtual. Cause I'm not making eye contact into the camera. So maybe a little less personable. (P3, F31)

CHAPTER 6: DISCUSSION

6.1 REVIEW OF FINDINGS

The present study aimed to explore social support via telemedicine from the perspective of medical providers. In particular, this study elucidated the technology features and affordances that have the potential to influence the mediated patient-provider interaction. The results suggest that providers have both positive and negative perceptions of telemedicine in general and for social support. Telemedicine provides accessibility and efficiency, but it also comes with potential technology issues and even acts as a barrier to empathy and human connection. When asked about specific technology features of telemedicine that influence their perceptions, providers noted that video and audio features were key. Participants also liked the chat and screen share features in general, but specifically for providing informational and instrumental support (see Section 6.4 for a detailed discussion on features that aid in providing social support and other outcomes).

Technology affordances was the last topic explored in the present study. Results aligned with three categories of affordances including modality, interactivity, and navigability. In terms of modality affordances, the video feature in telemedicine afforded participants with the ability to see and engage with their patients in real time, which had both positive and negative implications on outcomes such as presence, engagement, social support, and power dynamics. The chat and recording modalities were also mentioned by participants to have an impact on outcomes of social support. The screen share and chat features were noted to have interactivity affordances by providing reciprocal communication, which was noted to have positive impacts on informational support and power dynamics. The last category of affordances that was represented in the results is that of navigability. Telemedicine allows users movability, or the

ability to move around multiple screens while also engaging in the mediated interaction. Participants noted opposing thoughts on if this feature affords the ability to multi-task or if it reduces engagement and connection. The following sections will discuss these findings in relation to the existing literature.

6.2 INSIDE LOOK INTO PATIENTS LIVES VERSUS DISTRACTIONS

Telemedicine affords users unique visibility and synchronicity in that providers are able to get an inside look into their patients' lives. This has been noted in previous research as a positive feature of telemedicine (Andreadis et al., 2023; Gomez et al., 2021; Wilhite et al., 2022). This affordance that offers a holistic view of the patient's life has the potential to positively influence the social support the provider can offer as social support is more effectively given and better received within trusting relationships (Arora et al., 2007; Spake & Bishop, 2009). In addition, telemedicine may offer the affordance of comfortability in that patients may feel more comfortable communicating with providers in the safety of their home environment (Rains et al., 2017). However, a parallel consequence to the unique visibility of telemedicine is the potential for greater distractions compared to an in-person visit. These distractions were noted to take away from the professionalism of the visit, which has also been noted in recent research (Uscher-Pines et al., 2020). Reduced professionalism may also correlate with lower patient perceptions of provider credibility and trust (Svensson, 2006; Van Velsen et al., 2016), lower patient adherence to provider recommendations (Śliwińska et al., 2015), and compromised patient safety (DeJong, 2018). Although many participants felt that telemedicine had negative impacts on the professionalism of the encounter because of the distractions, one participant noted that the impact on power dynamics may actually be positive by reducing prestige and focusing on patient-centered care. Unfortunately, paternalistic values are still common within providerpatient communication (Ocloo et al., 2020), but there is evidence both from the current study and past research that suggests telemedicine as a computer mediated communication technology, has the potential to reduce social boundaries and level power differentials that are characteristic of in-person interactions (Postmes et al., 1998). This is an area of study that warrants future research.

6.3 PRESENCE

One affordance of telemedicine mentioned by a participant was the ability to see their own expressions, or nonverbal synchrony of facial expression and movement (Elliott et al., 2020). This affordance had implications for the participant's level of presence within the interaction. This participant described the opportunity as offering awareness of one's own reactions, which is not available during in-person interactions and likely has a positive impact on rapport building, support giving, trust, engagement, and social presence (Hamel et al., 2018). However, "Zoom fatigue" is a challenge that has risen from continuous video meetings as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic (Bailenson, 2021; Fosslien & West Duffy, 2020). The video feature was repeatedly noted as key to engagement and social presence. Video provides an authenticity to telemedicine interactions that are comparable to reality (Hein et al., 2018). Furthermore, one participant noted that telemedicine allows for the illusion of togetherness, which aligns with the definition of social presence (Biocca, 1997; Lombard & Ditton, 1997; Riva et al., 2007). However, it is clear from the results of the current study that distractions and the challenges of conveying non-verbal communication take away from the social presence that is offered by telemedicine. As mentioned above, distractions are more common in telemedicine, which has been explained as "context collapse", or the challenge of maintaining clear separation between home and public personas (Marwick & boyd, 2011). The "context collapse" that occurs

during a telemedicine visit may potentially lead to decreased social presence (Uscher-Pines et al., 2020). Conveying non-verbal communication via telemedicine is a known barrier, and this was confirmed by participants in this study who noted needing to put in extra effort to deliver non-verbal communication, such as using bigger gestures and looking right into the camera (i.e., eye-contact) (Pinedo-Torres et al., 2023). Patients have repeatedly noted that effective non-verbal communication is key to positive feelings about interacting with their provider via telemedicine (E. A. Miller, 2001, 2003). Educational opportunities should consider how to teach providers strategies for altering their non-verbal expressions to ensure their patients receive their intended messages.

6.4 FEATURES AND AFFORDANCES AID IN PROVIDING SPECIFIC TYPES OF SUPPORT

Informational support has been noted as key to patient satisfaction with interactions taking place via telemedicine (Elliott et al., 2020). Past research on patient satisfaction along with the results from the current study, align that existing and future telemedicine technology features should continue to bolster the exchange of informational support. Telemedicine features provision the delivery of information and communication in a remote setting by providing a multitude of affordances that attempt to transcend the distance that accompanies mediated interaction (Wu et al., 2022). The synchronous nature of telemedicine offers the opportunity for users to connect and have reciprocal exchanges of communication with others within the telemedicine environment (Sundar et al., 2015). One critical component for achieving a an interpersonal or hyperpersonal interaction via telemedicine is the ongoing reciprocity between the interactants (Walther, 1996), which is afforded to users because of the features inherent in telemedicine. Features such as the chat feature provide informational support by providing

technology tools that afford users verifiability, or the ability to give text-based directions and spelling of medications and diagnoses. Difficult medical terminology is a known obstacle to health literacy, or the individual capacity to communicate and understand the demands posed by the health care system (Baker, 2006). The chat feature allows the provider to give informational support and adapt the medical terminology to be more easily understood, which then may have a positive impact on the patient's health literacy (Fage-Butler & Nisbeth Jensen, 2016). In addition, the screen share feature affords users a synchronous space for reciprocity that allows for providing informational support by sharing images such as MRI results with patients. Participants noted that being able to share the images made it easier to share this information rather than having to describe it without visuals.

Spending time to go through medical findings was noted multiple times by participants to be a type of instrumental support that could occur because of the screen share feature. Telemedicine offers a unique experience for providers to give one's time to patients since virtual visits alleviate much of the time consuming waiting the accompanies in-person appointments (Breen et al., 2010; Everett & Kerr, 2010; Iqbal et al., 2017; Jordan et al., 2021; Lua & Neni, 2012; Tardy, 1985). Although this is characteristic of instrumental support, spending extra time with the patient can also be an expression of emotional support (Nazione et al., 2020).

Emotional support was expressed by providers as giving and experiencing empathy. For example, one participant talked about how the video feature affords a unique visibility that allows an inside look into their patients' homes, which may elicit feelings of empathy. This inside look into patient lives and homes is a relatively new area of telemedicine research and should be expanded to consider how this information can be harnessed for patient care and for providing emotional support to patients (Andreadis et al., 2023; Gomez et al., 2021). In addition, esteem

support was mentioned by one participant who talked about the screen share feature. This provider noted that these tools provided a synchronous and reciprocal environment in which they were able to provide informational and esteem support about certain resources and how to use these resources to learn about and manage their illness.

Participants also frequently mentioned the difficulties of conveying empathy in telemedicine, which is crucial in order to successfully support patients (Baile et al., 2000; Nazione et al., 2016). A large part of the difficulty mentioned by participants was a result of the lack of touch that accompanies interacting via telemedicine. One participant noted that in person, they give patients a Kleenex or a cup of water. They also mentioned patting their patient on the shoulder. These non-verbal expressions of empathy and emotional support are not possible in a mediated space like telemedicine and continue to be a top noted limitation of telemedicine (Gomez et al., 2021). In addition, there are challenges to the examination via telemedicine as a result of the lack of touch. However, there are adjustments that providers can learn to effectively gather some physical exam information (Kalyanaraman & Wojdynski, 2015), but should be limited to areas of medicine in which a virtual exam is sufficient and/or for patients who may not have access to any form of in- person care.

6.5 TELEMEDICINE CAN BE A BARRIER FOR CONVEYING EMPATHY

Participants from the current study noted that telemedicine interactions often felt less personal, lacked empathy, and were missing elements of the human connection. These characterizations suggest an impersonal exchange (Walther, 1996), which diminishes interpersonal connection (Culnan, & Markus, 1987). It's possible that this is the foundation for the lack of professionalism from certain patients and could be why some patients are easily distracted during telemedicine visits as discussed above and ultimately may have negative

impacts on social presence and effective social support (Uscher-Pines et al., 2020). One participant noted that interacting via telemedicine feels as if there is a "middleman", which is an interesting way to describe how it feels to have mediated communication since much of computer mediated communication tools were initially developed to replace or circumvent a human middleman with a technology (Spar & Bussgang, 1996). Future research should aim to disentangle the concepts of impersonal and hyperpersonal communication as it relates to social presence and social support in telemedicine. It is likely that individual differences play a key role, but there may be an ideal balance of impersonal to achieve reciprocal, patient-centered communication and hyperpersonal to achieve heightened interpersonal connection. Future research and telemedicine technology development should also consider how to reduce the mediated nature of interacting via telemedicine, which was noted to produce feelings of having a "middleman" in the interaction.

Additionally, although hugging and holding hands with the patient is not possible over telemedicine, which could help achieve an interpersonal connection, some of the key actions to convey empathy and improve the interpersonal connection are possible, such as spending extra time with the patient, using a warm tone of voice, quietly listening, and looking into the patient's eyes, which have been noted both by the participants in this study and in past research (Nazione et al., 2020). These non-verbal cues can help establish rapport and trust with patients (Hill & Gormally, 1977; Tepper & Haase, 1978) and may be one strategy for improving the interpersonal nature of the exchange via telemedicine. Target education on conveying empathy via telemedicine is key to ensuring that this gap of human connection is reduced, and this education should be continuing as provider empathy has been shown to decrease over the course of medical school, residency, and as an attending physician (Hojat et al., 2004; Nazione et al., 2020;

6.6 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE FUTURE

Much of the recent literature asserts that telemedicine is here to stay (Gentry et al., 2021; Henry, 2020; Holtz, 2021; Nies et al., 2021; Pew Research Center, 2021). Thus, it is crucial to understand providers' perspectives on a multitude of aspects of telemedicine including providing social support. Research has shown repeatedly that social support positively impacts patient outcomes (Bensing, 1991; Duberstein et al., 2007; Jensen et al., 2010). Therefore, teaching providers strategies for conveying social support both in-person and in a mediated environment such as telemedicine is crucial. Future work should consider how the benefits and barriers of providing social support to their patients via telemedicine impacts their choice of using it.

This study extended theory in the areas of technology affordances, social support, and social presence. By using technology features and affordances as a framework for understanding providers' interactions with the technology, a better understanding of the uses of specific telemedicine features and what the features afford to the providers as users of telemedicine was illuminated. This study also produced a connection between technology features, their affordances, and outcomes of social support as well social presence. This is one of the first representations of the relationship of these variables in the context of provider-patient communication and sets the stage for further hypothesis testing. In particular, these results suggest a need for experimental studies to uncover causality between these variables. Perhaps a manipulation of a specific feature and affordance to assess if there is a change in social support and presence outcomes. This study is also a springboard for future technology ideas, such as considering how artificial intelligence (AI) may play a role in telemedicine interactions in the future. Furthermore, there are additional considerations that weren't explored in this study (and

will be discussed in the following limitations section). For example, provider gender, race and ethnicity, and age, among other characteristics undoubtedly play a role in the interaction (Duberstein et al., 2007; Roter et al., 2002), but this remains understudied in regard to telemedicine visits.

Companies responsible for developing telemedicine technologies should consider using the feature, affordance, outcome framework to better understand how the technology may impact its users. To do this, developers should consider talking with all potential user groups to gather their insight on what outcomes are important to them and how particular features may offer a way to achieve those outcomes. These two strategies have been suggested in previous research on technology (Mitchell et al., 2019). Future technology ideas may also stem from formative research. For example, one participant from this study mentioned the ability to doodle while on the telemedicine call using a screen share-type feature in order to provide informational support to their patients. Designing tools that offer users a robust experience is critical to positive outcomes of communicating and providing care via telemedicine.

There are also policy and insurance implications of this work. Telemedicine provides a multitude of benefits to providers and patients by delivering accessible and efficient healthcare solutions, but there are specific contexts in which telemedicine is ideal and most effective (Jordan et al., 2021). Policymakers and insurance companies should consider research such as the present study for decision-making around how to expand and protect the availability of care via telemedicine.

Lastly, there are educational implications of this work for providers. The results suggest that empathetic language and active listening are key communication and support strategies regardless of where the interaction is taking place (Nazione et al., 2020). However, eye contact

and other non-verbal expressions are different in a telemedicine interaction. Therefore, it's crucial that providers learn to use the technology features and affordances to their advantage. For example, providers should check in on their expression as their patient is talking to ensure that the expression elicits empathy and caring.

6.7 LIMITATIONS

Healthcare involves many complex human interactions, which makes qualitative methods a good starting point for exploring a phenomenon such as what was explored in this study. However, as with all studies, this interview study has limitations that should be discussed. First, findings may be subject to interviewer bias or social desirability bias, which is a highly cited limitation of qualitative work when focused on foundationalist perspectives (Anderson, 2010; Roulston & Shelton, 2015). Participants' responses may be influenced purely by the presence of the researcher. To avoid this, all interviews were conducted via Zoom technology without video. Although there is still presence detected from the researcher by the participant, it is likely less than in an interview being held in- person (Archibald et al., 2019). Furthermore, the research design and methodology align with the theoretical paradigms set forth in the literature review, in particular the methods used for coding and analysis utilized a neutral researcher to ensure reliability and increase objectivity (Braun & Clarke, 2006; Roulston & Shelton, 2015).

Another limitation of this work was the sampling method. Since recruitment took place over social media, email, and word of mouth, the sample included only individuals in the author's extended network. Many of those individuals are in the field of neurology and therefore, there is an overrepresentation of participants from that specialty. Although this is a limitation, neurology has been noted as a high-use specialty that has utilized telemedicine effectively for many years, which makes study this sample preferable for this topic area than studying those who

have less experience with telemedicine (León-Salas et al., 2023; Levine & Gorman, 1999; Wechsler et al., 2013). There is also a potential limitation in that the data may not be generalizable to all providers because of the small sample size, overrepresentation of particular specialties, as well as an overrepresentation of female participants and a slight underrepresentation of white participants compared to the general US population (Data USA: Physicians, 2021; Yang, 2023, 2024). Additionally, saturation was reached but only within the limited sample, which as stated above, consisted of individuals within the researcher's network. There is a likelihood that demographics of both the provider and the patient influence outcomes of social support. For example, concordance of demographic characteristics has shown to have impacts on communication and care outcomes (Thornton et al., 2011). In addition, female and male providers often obtain positive patient outcomes through different means of providing support (Mast & Kadji, 2018), suggesting that gender influences outcomes. Age and race/ethnicity have also been shown to influence outcomes (Singh et al., 2018; Spooner et al., 2017). Lack of generalizability is a known and controversial limitation of qualitative work (Carminati, 2018), which calls for future work to include a more robust sample.

This pilot project aimed to investigate perspectives in a theoretical space that has not yet been explored, which will provide direction for larger scale projects that will be able to better generalize to populations of providers. Lastly, participants may have had a tendency to report more positive perceptions of telemedicine because only users of telemedicine were included. However, the aims of this work required that participants have used telemedicine before. Furthermore, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, nearly 85% of providers in the US currently use telemedicine (Deutsch, 2022; Omboni et al., 2022).

68

CHAPTER 7: CONCLUSION

This study contributes to the fields of health communication, interpersonal communication, and health technology by exploring how medical providers feel about giving support to their patients via telemedicine. Theoretical perspectives of interpersonal communication, computer mediated communication, and technology affordances were connected within the context of telemedicine to better understand provider-patient interactions. The COVID-19 pandemic brought telemedicine use and research to the forefront, and despite being past the shutdowns and back to seemingly normal in-person clinic visits, telemedicine is here to stay (Henry, 2020; Pew Research Center, 2021). This study sought to better understand providers' perspectives on using telemedicine, supporting their patients in a mediated space, and the technology features and affordances that help or hinder that process. Results suggest that providers have positive and negative perceptions of telemedicine. There are specific technology features that influence their perceptions including video, screen share, and chat. In addition, these features trigger certain affordances, such as synchronicity, reciprocity, and movability, that have the potential to influence outcomes of presence and social support. Future work should aim to uncover how best these features can be utilized for positive outcomes of social support between providers and their patients. Specifically, the relationships between these variables should next be experimentally tested for causality using both providers and patients. Then, once there is a more substantial understanding of telemedicine technology features, affordances, and outcomes of social support and social presence, targeted education for providers on using the tools within telemedicine for assistance with providing social support in patient care.

69

REFERENCES

- Aashima, A., Nanda, M., & Sharma, R. (2021). A Review of Patient Satisfaction and Experience with Telemedicine: A Virtual Solution during and beyond COVID-19 Pandemic. *Telemedicine and E-Health*, 27(12), 1325–1331. https://doi.org/10.1089/tmj.2020.0570
- Adams, R. B., Nelson, V. R., & Holtz, B. E. (2021). Barriers for Telemedicine Use Among Nonusers at the Beginning of the Pandemic. *Https://Home.Liebertpub.Com/Tmr*, 2(1), 211–216. https://doi.org/10.1089/TMR.2021.0022
- American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. (2014). Effective patient–physician communication. Committee Opinion No. 587. *Obstetrics & Gynecology*, *123*, 389–393.
- Anderson, C. (2010). Presenting and evaluating qualitative research. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 74(8). https://doi.org/10.5688/aj7408141
- Anderson, J. N., Graff, J. C., Krukowski, R. A., Schwartzberg, L., Vidal, G. A., Waters, T. M., Paladino, A. J., Jones, T. N., Blue, R., Kocak, M., & Graetz, I. (2021). "Nobody Will Tell You. You've Got to Ask!": An Examination of Patient-Provider Communication Needs and Preferences among Black and White Women with Early- Stage Breast Cancer. *Health Communication*, 36(11), 1331–1342. https://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2020.1751383
- Andreadis, K., Muellers, K., Ancker, J. S., Horowitz, C., Kaushal, R., & Lin, J. J. (2023). Telemedicine Impact on the Patient-Provider Relationship in Primary Care During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Medical Care*, 61(4), S83–S88. https://doi.org/10.1097/MLR.000000000001808
- Archibald, M. M., Ambagtsheer, R. C., Casey, M. G., & Lawless, M. (2019). Using Zoom Videoconferencing for Qualitative Data Collection: Perceptions and Experiences of Researchers and Participants. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919874596
- Arora, N. K., Rutten, L. J. F., Gustafson, D. H., Moser, R., & Hawkins, R. P. (2007). Perceived helpfulness and impact of social support provided by family, friends, and health care providers to women newly diagnosed with breast cancer. *Psycho- Oncology: Journal* of the Psychological, Social and Behavioral Dimensions of Cancer, 16(9), 474–486. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon
- Baile, W. F., Buckman, R., Lenzi, R., Glober, G., Beale, E. A., & Kudelka, A. P. (2000). SPIKES—A Six-Step Protocol for Delivering Bad News: Application to the Patient with Cancer. *The Oncologist*, 5(4), 302–311. https://doi.org/10.1634/theoncologist.5- 4-302
- Bailenson, J. N. (2021). Nonverbal Overload: A Theoretical Argument for the Causes of Zoom Fatigue. *Technology, Mind, and Behavior*, 2(1). https://doi.org/10.1037/tmb0000030

Baker, D. W. (2006). The meaning and the measure of health literacy. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 21(8), 878–883. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1525-1497.2006.00540.x

Bashshur, R. L. (1995). Evaluation of Telemedicine. *Telemedicine Journal*, 1(1), 19–30.

- Bensing, J. (1991). Doctor-patient communication and the quality of care. *Social Science and Medicine*, *32*(11), 1301–1310. https://doi.org/10.1016/0277-9536(91)90047-G
- Biocca, F. (1997). The Cyborg's Dilemma: Progressive Embodiment in Virtual Environments. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 3(2).
- Bishop, T. F., Press, M. J., Mendelsohn, J. L., & Casalino, L. P. (2013). Electronic communication improves access, but barriers to its widespread adoption remain. *Health Affairs*, 32(8), 1361–1367. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2012.1151
- Bodie, G. D., & Burleson, B. R. (2008). Explaining Variations in the Effects of Supportive Messages A Dual-Process Framework. *Annals of the International Communication Association*, 32(1), 355–398. https://doi.org/10.1080/23808985.2008.11679082
- Bradbury, A., Patrick-Miller, L., Harris, D., Stevens, E., Egleston, B., Smith, K., Mueller, R.,
 Brandt, A., Stopfer, J., Rauch, S., Forman, A., Kim, R., Fetzer, D., Fleisher, L., Daly, M.,
 & Domchek, S. (2016). Utilizing remote real-time videoconferencing to expand access to cancer genetic services in community practices: A multicenter feasibility study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 18(2). https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.4564
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-803547-4.00019-7
- Breen, P., Murphy, K., Browne, G., Molloy, F., Reid, V., Doherty, C., Delanty, N., Connolly, S., & Fitzsimons, M. (2010). Formative evaluation of a telemedicine model for delivering clinical neurophysiology services part I: Utility, technical performance and service provider perspective. *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making*, 10(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6947-10-48
- Brennan, D. M., Holtz, B. E., Chumbler, N. R., Kobb, R., & Rabinowitz, T. (2008). Visioning technology for the future of telehealth. In *Telemedicine and e-Health* (Vol. 14, Issue 9, pp. 982–985). https://doi.org/10.1089/tmj.2008.0116
- Burleson, B. R., & Holmstrom, A. J. (2008). Comforting Communication. *The International Encyclopedia of Communication*, 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781405186407.wbiecc049
- Caplan, S. E., & Turner, J. S. (2007). Bringing theory to research on computer-mediated comforting communication. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 23(2), 985–998. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2005.08.003

- Carminati, L. (2018). Generalizability in Qualitative Research: A Tale of Two Traditions. *Qualitative Health Research*, 28(13), 2094–2101. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732318788379
- Carr, C. T. (2020). CMC Is Dead, Long Live CMC!: Situating Computer-Mediated Communication Scholarship Beyond the Digital Age. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 25(1), 9–22. https://doi.org/10.1093/jcmc/zmz018
- CDC. (2021a). COVID-19 Mortality Overview. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/covid19/mortalityoverview.htm
- CDC. (2021b). Trends in Number of COVID-19 Cases and Deaths in the US Reported to CDC, by State/Territory.
- Chang, S. O. (2001). The conceptual structure of physical touch in caring. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *33*(6), 820–827. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2648.2001.01721.x
- Christensen, I. E., Risør, M. B., Grøn, L., & Reventlow, S. (2023). Senses of Touch: The Absence and Presence of Touch in Health Care Encounters of Patients with Mental Illness. *Culture, Medicine and Psychiatry*, 47(2), 402–421. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11013-022- 09770-9
- Cole, S. A., & Bird, J. (2013). *The medical interview: The three function approach* (S. A. Cole (Ed.); 3rd ed.). Elsevier Health Sciences.
- Connolly, S. L., Miller, C. J., Lindsay, J. A., & Bauer, M. S. (2020). A systematic review of providers' attitudes toward telemental health via videoconferencing. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 27(2), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1111/cpsp.12311
- Conole, G., & Dyke, M. (2004). Understanding and using technological affordances: a response to Boyle and Cook. *Alt-J*, *12*(3), 301–308. https://doi.org/10.1080/0968776042000259609
- Cottrell, M. A., Hill, A. J., O'Leary, S. P., Raymer, M. E., & Russell, T. G. (2018). Clinicians' Perspectives of a Novel Home-based Multidisciplinary Telehealth Service for Patients with Chronic Spinal Pain. *International Journal of Telerehabilitation*, 10(2), 81– 88. https://doi.org/10.5195/ijt.2018.6249

Cristian, F. (1996). Synchronous and asynchronous. Communications of the ACM, 39(4), 88-97.

- Culnan, M. J., & Markus, M. L. (1987). *Information Technologies* (L. Jablin, FM; Putnam, LL; Roberts, KH & Porter (Ed.); Handbook o). SAGE.
- Cunningham, M. R., & Barbee, A. P. (2000). Social support. In *Close Relationships: A* Sourcebook (pp. 274–284).
- Cunningham, N. (1978). Telemedicine in Pediatric Primary Care. *Jama*, 240(25), 2749. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.1978.03290250053029

Data USA: Physicians. (2021). https://datausa.io/profile/soc/physicians#demographics

- de Moura, C. O., Silva, Í. R., da Silva, T. P., Santos, K. A., Crespo, M. da C. A., & da Silva, M.M. (2022). Methodological path to reach the degree of saturation in qualitative research: grounded theory. *Revista Brasileira de Enfermagem*, 75(2), 2–9. https://doi.org/10.1590/0034-7167-2020-1379
- DeJong, S. M. (2018). Professionalism and Technology: Competencies Across the Tele-Behavioral Health and E-Behavioral Health Spectrum. *Academic Psychiatry*, 42(6), 800– 807. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40596-018-0947-x
- Deutsch, J. (2022). AMA survey shows widespread enthusiasm for telehealth. https://www.amaassn.org/press-center/press-releases/ama-survey-shows-widespread- enthusiasmtelehealth#:~:text=Nearly 85%25 of physician respondents, using telehealth in their practice.
- Dey-Plissonneau, A. (2017). Emerging affordances in videoconferencing for language learning and teaching. CALL in a Climate of Change: Adapting to Turbulent Global Conditions – Short Papers from EUROCALL 2017, 2017, 92–98. https://doi.org/10.14705/rpnet.2017.eurocall2017.695
- Dias, A. E., Limongi, J. C. P., Hsing, W. T., & Barbosa, E. R. (2016). Telerehabilitation in Parkinson's disease: Influence of cognitive status. *Dementia e Neuropsychologia*, 10(4), 327–332. https://doi.org/10.1590/s1980-5764-2016dn1004012
- Doarn, C. R., & Merrell, R. C. (2020). The day the earth stood still: COVID-19. *Telemedicine and E-Health*, 26(5), 569–570. https://doi.org/10.1089/tmj.2020.29039.crd
- Doermann, A., Walcoff, P., & Macarthur, D. (1975). Extending the Capabilities of Nonphysician Providers in Isolated Rural Areas: An Investigation of the Potential Impact of Telecommunication-based Technology. *Mitre Corporation*.
- Duberstein, P., Meldrum, S., Fiscella, K., Shields, C. G., & Epstein, R. M. (2007). Influences on patients' ratings of physicians: Physicians demographics and personality. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 65(2), 270–274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2006.09.007
- Elliott, T., Tong, I., Sheridan, A., & Lown, B. A. (2020). Beyond Convenience: Patients' Perceptions of Physician Interactional Skills and Compassion via Telemedicine. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings: Innovations, Quality & Outcomes*, 4(3), 305–314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocpiqo.2020.04.009
- Esposito, S., Voccia, E., Cantarelli, A., Canali, A., Principi, N., & Prati, A. (2020). Telemedicine for management of paediatric infectious diseases during COVID-19 outbreak. *Journal of Clinical Virology*, 129.

- Evans, S. K., Pearce, K. E., Vitak, J., & Treem, J. W. (2017). Explicating Affordances: A Conceptual Framework for Understanding Affordances in Communication Research. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 22(1), 35–52. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcc4.12180
- Everett, J., & Kerr, D. (2010). Telehealth as adjunctive therapy in insulin pump treated patients: A pilot study. *Practical Diabetes International*, 27(1), 9-10i. https://doi.org/10.1002/pdi.1430
- Evidente, V. G. H., Caviness, J. N., & Adler, C. H. (2003). Case studies in movement disorders. *Seminars in Neurology*, 23(3), 277–284.
- Fage-Butler, A. M., & Nisbeth Jensen, M. (2016). Medical terminology in online patient- patient communication: Evidence of high health literacy? *Health Expectations*, 19(3), 643–653. https://doi.org/10.1111/hex.12395
- Fallowfield, L., & Jenkins, V. (2004). Communicating sad, bad, and difficult news in medicine. *Lancet*, *363*(9405), 312–319. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(03)15392-5
- Faucett, H. A., Lee, M. L., & Carter, S. (2017). "I should listen more": Real-time sensing and feedback of non-verbal communication in video telehealth. *Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction*, 1(CSCW), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1145/3134679
- Fayard, A. L., & Weeks, J. (2014). Affordances for practice. *Information and Organization*, 24(4), 236–249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infoandorg.2014.10.001
- Ford, L. A., Babrow, A. S., & Stohl, C. (1996). Social support messages and the management of uncertainty in the experience of breast cancer: An application of problematic integration theory. *Communication Monographs*, 63(3). https://doi.org/10.1080/03637759609376389
- Fosslien, L., & West Duffy, M. (2020). How to Combat Zoom Fatigue. Harvard Business Review.
- Gao, G., Burke, N., Somkin, C. P., & Pasick, R. (2009). Patient Communication During Colorectal Cancer Screening. *Qualitative Health Research*, 19(6), 778–789.
- Gao, J., Wang, J., Zheng, P., Haardörfer, R., Kegler, M. C., Zhu, Y., & Fu, H. (2013). Effects of self-care, self-efficacy, social support on glycemic control in adults with type 2 difile:///Users/hannahkeal566/Desktop/ContentServer.pdfabetes. *BMC Family Practice*, 14, 2–6.
- Garavand, A., Aslani, N., Nadri, H., Abedini, S., & Dehghan, S. (2022). Acceptance of telemedicine technology among physicians: A systematic review. *Informatics in Medicine Unlocked*, 30(January), 100943. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.imu.2022.100943
- Garton, L., & Wellman, B. (1995). Social Impacts of Electronic Mail in Organizations: A Review of the Research Literature. *Annals of the International Communication Association*,

18(1), 434–453. https://doi.org/10.1080/23808985.1995.11678923

- Gentry, M. T., Puspitasari, A. J., McKean, A. J., Williams, M. D., Breitinger, S., Geske, J. R., Clark, M. M., Moore, K. M., Frye, M. A., & Hilty, D. M. (2021). Clinician Satisfaction with Rapid Adoption and Implementation of Telehealth Services During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Telemedicine and E-Health*, 00(00), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1089/tmj.2020.0575
- Gold, J. I., Campbell, I. M., & Ficicioglu, C. (2021). Provider perspectives on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on newborn screening. In *International Journal of Neonatal Screening* (Vol. 7, Issue 3). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijns7030038
- Goldsmith, D J, & Albrecht, T. L. (2011). Social support, social networks, and health: A guiding framework In Thompson TL, Parrott RP, & Nussbaum JF. In T. Thompson, R. Parrott, & J. Nussbaum (Eds.), *The Routledge Handbook of Health Communication* (Issue 2011, pp. 335–348). Taylor & Francis.
- Goldsmith, D. J., & Fitch, K. (1997). The normative context of advice as social support. *Human Communication Research*, 23(4), 454–476. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2958.1997.tb00406.x
- Gomez, T., Anaya, Y. B., Shih, K. J., & Tarn, D. M. (2021). A Qualitative Study of Primary Care Physicians' Experiences with Telemedicine during COVID-19. *Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine*, 34, S61–S70. https://doi.org/10.3122/JABFM.2021.S1.200517
- Hack, T. F., Degner, L. F., Parker, P. A., Baile, W., Brundage, M., Bultz, B., Butler, L., Carlson, L., Davison, J., Feldman-Stewart, D., Thorne, S., & Tishelman, C. (2005). The communication goals and needs of cancer patients: A review. *Psycho-Oncology*, 14(10), 831–845. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.949
- Hailey, D., Roine, R., & Ohinmaa, A. (2002). Systematic review of evidence for the benefits of telemedicine. *Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare*, 8 Suppl 1(December 2000), 1–30. https://doi.org/10.1258/1357633021937604
- Håkansson Eklund, J., Holmström, I. K., Kumlin, T., Kaminsky, E., Skoglund, K., Höglander, J., Sundler, A. J., Condén, E., & Summer Meranius, M. (2019). "Same same or different?" A review of reviews of person-centered and patient-centered care. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 102(1), 3–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2018.08.029
- Hamel, L. M., Moulder, R., Albrecht, T. L., Boker, S., Eggly, S., & Penner, L. A. (2018). Nonverbal synchrony as a behavioural marker of patient and physician race-related attitudes and a predictor of outcomes in oncology interactions: Protocol for a secondary analysis of video-recorded cancer treatment discussions. *BMJ Open*, 8(12), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-023648

Hatcher-Martin, J. M., Adams, J. L., Anderson, E. R., Bove, R., Burrus, T. M., Chehrenama, M.,

Dolan O'Brien, M., Eliashiv, D. S., Erten-Lyons, D., Giesser, B. S., Moo, L. R., Narayanaswami, P., Rossi, M. A., Soni, M., Tariq, N., Tsao, J. W., Vargas, B. B., Vota, S. A., Wessels, S. R., ... Govindarajan, R. (2020). Telemedicine in neurology: Telemedicine Work Group of the American Academy of Neurology update. *Neurology*, 94(1), 30–38. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000008708

- HCCA. (2023). Final MPFS Rule: Split/Shared Billing Gets a New Look, Complexity Codes are Finally Billable. *Report on Medicare Compliance*, *32*(40), 1, 6–8.
- Hein, D., Mai, C., & Hußmann, H. (2018). The Usage of Presence Measurements in Research: A Review. Proceedings of the International Society for Presence Research Annual Conference (Presence), May, 21–22.
- Hennink, M., & Kaiser, B. N. (2022). Sample sizes for saturation in qualitative research: A systematic review of empirical tests. *Social Science and Medicine*, 292, 114523. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.114523
- Henry, T. (2020). COVID-19 makes telemedicine mainstream. Will it stay that way? | American Medical Association. *American Medical Association*, 2020–2022. https://www.ama-assn.org/practice-management/digital/covid-19-makes- telemedicine-mainstream-will-it-stay-way
- Higgins, C. A., Conrath, D. W., & Dunn, E. V. (1984). Provider acceptance of telemedicine systems in remote areas of Ontario. *Journal of Family Practice*, *18*(2), 285–289.
- Hill, C. E., & Gormally, J. (1977). Effects of reflection, restatement, probe, and nonverbal behaviors on client affect. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 24(2), 92–97. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-0167.24.2.92
- Hjelm, N. M. (2005). Benefits and drawbacks of telemedicine. *Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare*, *11*(2), 60–70. https://doi.org/10.1258/1357633053499886
- Hojat, M., Mangione, S., Nasca, T. J., Rattner, S., Erdmann, J. B., Gonnella, J. S., & Magee, M. (2004). An empirical study of decline in empathy in medical school. *Medical Education*, 38(9), 934–941. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2929.2004.01911.x
- Holmstrom, A. J. (2012). What Helps-and What Doesn't-When Self-Esteem is Threatened?: Retrospective Reports of Esteem Support. *Communication Studies*, 63(1), 77–98. https://doi.org/10.1080/10510974.2011.586399
- Holmstrom, A. J., Bodie, G. D., Burleson, B. R., McCullough, J. D., Rack, J. J., Hanasono, L. K., & Rosier, J. G. (2015). Testing a Dual-Process Theory of Supportive Communication Outcomes: How Multiple Factors Influence Outcomes in Support Situations. *Communication Research*, 42(4), 526–546. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093650213476293

Holmstrom, A. J., & Burleson, B. R. (2011). An initial test of a cognitive-emotional theory of

esteem support messages. *Communication Research*, *38*(3), 326–355. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093650210376191

- Holtz, B. E. (2021). Patients Perceptions of Telemedicine Visits Before and After the Coronavirus Disease 2019 Pandemic. *Https://Home.Liebertpub.Com/Tmj*, 27(1), 107–112. https://doi.org/10.1089/TMJ.2020.0168
- Holtz, B. E., Vasold, K., Cotten, S., Mackert, M., & Zhang, M. (2019). Health care provider perceptions of consumer-grade devices and apps for tracking health: A pilot study. *JMIR MHealth and UHealth*, 7(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.2196/mhealth.9929
- Inagaki, T. K., & Orehek, E. (2017). On the Benefits of Giving Social Support: When, Why, and How Support Providers Gain by Caring for Others. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 26(2), 109–113. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721416686212
- Iqbal, A., Raza, A., Huang, E., Goldstein, L., Hughes, S. J., & Tan, S. A. (2017). Cost effectiveness of a novel attempt to reduce readmission after ileostomy creation. *Journal* of the Society of Laparoendoscopic Surgeons, 21(1). https://doi.org/10.4293/JSLS.2016.00082
- Jensen, J. D., King, A. J., Guntzviller, L. M., & Davis, L. S. A. (2010). Patient-provider communication and low-income adults: Age, race, literacy, and optimism predict communication satisfaction. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 79(1), 30–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2009.09.041
- Jordan, D. N., Jessen, C. M., & Ferucci, E. D. (2021). Views of Patients and Providers on the Use of Telemedicine for Chronic Disease Specialty Care in the Alaska Native Population. *Telemedicine and E-Health*, 27(1), 82–89. https://doi.org/10.1089/tmj.2019.0284
- Kalyanaraman, S. S., & Wojdynski, B. W. (2015). Affording Control How Customization, Interactivity, and Navigability Affect Psychological Responses to Technology. In S. S. Sundar (Ed.), *The Handbook of the Psychology of Communication Technology* (First). Wiley & Sons.
- Kelly, M. A., Nixon, L., McClurg, C., Scherpbier, A., King, N., & Dornan, T. (2018). Experience of Touch in Health Care: A Meta-Ethnography Across the Health Care Professions. *Qualitative Health Research*, 28(2), 200–212. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732317707726
- Kichloo, A., Albosta, M., Dettloff, K., Wani, F., El-Amir, Z., Singh, J., Aljadah, M., Chakinala, R. C., Kanugula, A. K., Solanki, S., & Chugh, S. (2020). Telemedicine, the current COVID- 19 pandemic and the future: a narrative review and perspectives moving forward in the USA. *Family Medicine and Community Health*, 8(3), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1136/fmch- 2020-000530

Ko, H. C., Wang, L. L., & Xu, Y. T. (2013). Understanding the different types of social support

offered by audience to a-list diary-like and informative bloggers. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking*, *16*(3), 194–199. https://doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2012.0297

- Kruse, C. S., Krowski, N., Rodriguez, B., Tran, L., Vela, J., & Brooks, M. (2017). Telehealth and patient satisfaction: A systematic review and narrative analysis. *BMJ Open*, 7(8), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-016242
- Lee, K. M. (2004). Presence, Explicated. 27-50.
- León-Salas, B., González-Hernández, Y., Infante-Ventura, D., de Armas-Castellano, A., García-García, J., García-Hernández, M., Carmona-Rodríguez, M., Olazarán, J., Dobato, J. L., Rodríguez-Rodríguez, L., & Trujillo-Martín, M. M. (2023). Telemedicine for neurological diseases: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *European Journal of Neurology*, 30(1), 241–254. https://doi.org/10.1111/ene.15599
- Levine, S. R., & Gorman, M. (1999). "Telestroke": The application of telemedicine for stroke. *Stroke*, *30*(2), 464–469. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.STR.30.2.464
- Levy, C. E., Silverman, E., Jia, H., Geiss, M., & Omura, D. (2015). Effects of physical therapy delivery via home video telerehabilitation on functional and health-related quality of life outcomes. *Journal of Rehabilitation Research and Development*, 52(3), 361–370. https://doi.org/10.1682/JRRD.2014.10.0239
- Lombard, M., & Ditton, T. (1997). At the Heart of It All: The Concept of Presence. Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication, 3(2).
- Lua, P. L., & Neni, W. S. (2012). Feasibility and acceptability of Mobile Epilepsy Educational System (MEES) for people with epilepsy in Malaysia. *Telemedicine and E-Health*, 18(10), 777–784. https://doi.org/10.1089/tmj.2012.0047
- MacGeorge, E. L., Feng, B., & Burleson, B. R. (2011). Supportive communication. In M. L. Knapp & J. A. Daly (Eds.), *Handbook of Interpersonal Communication* (4th ed., pp. 317– 354). SAGE Publications.
- Mair, F. S., Goldstein, P., May, C., Angus, R., Shiels, C., Hibbert, D., O'Connor, J., Boland, A., Roberts, C., Haycox, A., & Capewell, S. (2005). Patient and provider perspectives on home telecare: Preliminary results from a randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare*, 11(SUPPL. 1), 95–97. https://doi.org/10.1258/1357633054461976
- Mair, F., & Whitten, P. (2000). Systematic review of studies of patient satisfaction with telemedicine. *British Medical Journal*, *320*(7248), 1517–1520. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.313.7055.438

Makoul, G. (2001). Essential Elements of Communication in Medical Encounters. Academic

Medicine, 76(4), 390-393. https://doi.org/10.1097/00001888-200104000-00021

- Marwick, A. E., & boyd, danah. (2011). I tweet honestly, I tweet passionately: Twitter users, context collapse, and the imagined audience. *New Media and Society*, *13*(1), 114–133. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444810365313
- Mason, A. N. (2022). The Most Important Telemedicine Patient Satisfaction Dimension: Patient-Centered Care. *Telemedicine and E-Health*, *28*(8), 1206–1214. https://doi.org/10.1089/tmj.2021.0322
- Mast, M. S., & Kadji, K. K. (2018). How female and male physicians' communication is perceived differently. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 101(9), 1697–1701. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2018.06.003
- Matusitz, J., & Spear, J. (2014). Effective doctor-patient communication: An updated examination. *Social Work in Public Health*, *29*(3), 252–266. https://doi.org/10.1080/19371918.2013.776416
- Metzger, G. A., Cooper, J., Lutz, C., Jatana, K. R., Nishimura, L., Deans, K. J., Minneci, P. C., & Halaweish, I. (2021). Recognizing the Benefit of Telemedicine Before and After COVID-19: A Survey of Pediatric Surgery Providers. *Journal of Surgical Research*, 267(267), 274–283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jss.2021.05.019
- Meuter, L. S., Wolf, K. I., & Pacak, K. (2021). Maintaining Professional Encounters and Enhancing Telemedicine Interactions With Core Virtual-Clinical Values. *Endocrine Practice*, 27(1), 77–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eprac.2020.11.006
- Miller, E. A. (2001). Telemedicine and doctor-patient communication: An analytical survey of the literature. *Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare*, 7(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1258/1357633011936075
- Miller, E. A. (2003). The technical and interpersonal aspects of telemedicine: Effects on doctorpatient communication. *Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare*, 9(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1258/135763303321159611
- Miller, M. (2017). Through the Looking Glass: The Effects of Feedback on Self- Awareness and Conversational Behaviour during Video Chat. *CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*.
- Mitchell, K. M., Holtz, B. E., & McCarroll, A. (2019). Patient-Centered Methods for Designing and Developing Health Information Communication Technologies: A Systematic Review. *Telemedicine and E-Health*, 25(11). https://doi.org/10.1089/tmj.2018.0236
- Molina, M. D., & Sundar, S. S. (2021). *Effects of Digital Media Tech on Health Communication* (T. L. Thompson & P. J. Schulz (Eds.)). John Wiley & Sons.

- National Institute on Drug Abuse. (n.d.). *Prescription Drug Abuse Sample Case*. https://nida.nih.gov/sites/default/files/PrescriptionDrugAbuseSampleCase.pdf
- Nazione, S. (2013). Verbal and nonverbal social support by companions and medical providers in decision making appointments for newly diagnosed breast cancer patients.
- Nazione, S., Nazione, A., & Griner, T. (2020). How do perceptions of verbal statements and nonverbal actions as empathetic differ by medical appointment context? *Patient Education and Counseling*, 103(2), 410–413. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2019.08.016
- Nazione, S., Silk, K. J., & Robinson, J. (2016). Verbal social support for newly diagnosed breast cancer patients during surgical decision-making visits. *Journal of Communication in Healthcare*, 9(4), 267–278. https://doi.org/10.1080/17538068.2016.1199174
- NCI. (2024). Patterns and Predictors of Telehealth Use among US Adults in 2022. In *HINTS Brief*. https://doi.org/10.1089/tmj.2023.0277
- Neumann, M., Edelhäuser, F., Tauschel, D., Fischer, M. R., Wirtz, M., Woopen, C., Haramati, A., & Scheffer, C. (2011). Empathy decline and its reasons: A systematic review of studies with medical students and residents. *Academic Medicine*, 86(8), 996–1009. https://doi.org/10.1097/ACM.0b013e318221e615
- Nguyen, M., Waller, M., Pandya, A., & Portnoy, J. (2020). A Review of Patient and Provider Satisfaction with Telemedicine. *Current Allergy and Asthma Reports*, 20(11). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11882-020-00969-7
- Nies, S., Patel, S., Shafer, M., Longman, L., Sharif, I., & Pina, P. (2021). Understanding physicians⇔ preferences for telemedicine during the COVID-19 pandemic: Crosssectional study. *JMIR Formative Research*, 5(8), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.2196/26565
- Ocloo, J., Goodrich, J., Tanaka, H., Birchall-Searle, J., Dawson, D., & Farr, M. (2020). The importance of power, context and agency in improving patient experience through a patient and family centred care approach. *Health Research Policy and Systems*, 18(1), 1– 16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12961-019-0487-1
- Omboni, S., Padwal, R. S., Alessa, T., Benczúr, B., & Green, B. B. (2022). Europe PMC Funders Group The worldwide impact of telemedicine during COVID-19 : current evidence and recommendations for the future. 7–35. https://doi.org/10.20517/ch.2021.03.The
- Perry, K., Gold, S., & Shearer, E. M. (2020). Identifying and addressing mental health providers' perceived barriers to clinical video telehealth utilization. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 76(6), 1125–1134. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.22770

Pew Research Center. (2021). Mobile Technology and Home Broadband 2021.

Pinedo-Torres, I., Garcia-Villasante, E. J., Gutierrez-Ortiz, C. C., Quispe-Sarria, C., Morales-

Pocco, K., Cedillo-Balcázar, J., Moran-Mariños, C., & Baca-Carrasco, V. (2023). The doctor-patient relationship and barriers in non-verbal communication during teleconsultation in the era of COVID-19: A scoping review. *F1000Research*, *12*, 676. https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.129970.1

- Postmes, T., Spears, R., & Lea, M. (1998). Breaching or building social boundaries? SIDEeffects of computer-mediated communication. *Communication Research*, 25(6), 689–715.
- Rafaeli, S. (1988). Interactivity: From new media to communication. *Sage Annual Review of Communication Research: Advancing Communication Science*, *16*, 111–134. http://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&btnG=Search&q=intitle:Interactivity:+From+New+Media+to+Communication#0%5Cnfile:///Users/Home/Dropbox/Masters Thesis/Articles/Interactivity/Rafeili_?.Interactivity.pdf
- Rains, S. A., Brunner, S. R., Akers, C., Pavlich, C. A., & Goktas, S. (2017). Computer- mediated communication (CMC) and social support: Testing the effects of using CMC on support outcomes. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 34(8), 1186–1205. https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407516670533
- Rains, S. A., Peterson, E. B., & Wright, K. B. (2015). Communicating Social Support in Computer-mediated Contexts: A Meta-analytic Review of Content Analyses Examining Support Messages Shared Online among Individuals Coping with Illness. *Communication Monographs*, 82(4), 403–430. https://doi.org/10.1080/03637751.2015.1019530
- Rains, S. A., & Wright, K. B. (2016). Social Support and Computer-Mediated Communication: A State-of-the-Art Review and Agenda for Future Research. Annals of the International Communication Association, 40(1), 175–211. https://doi.org/10.1080/23808985.2015.11735260
- Ramaswamy, A., Yu, M., Drangsholt, S., Ng, E., Culligan, P. J., Schlegel, P. N., & Hu, J. C. (2020). Patient satisfaction with telemedicine during the COVID-19 pandemic: Retrospective cohort study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 22(9), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.2196/20786
- Ranjan, P., Kumari, A., & Chakrawarty, A. (2015). How can doctors improve their communication skills? *Journal of Clinical and Diagnostic Research*, 9(3), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.7860/JCDR/2015/12072.5712
- Rapaport, M. (1991). Computer mediated communications: Bulletin boards, computer conferencing, electronic mail, and information retrieval. John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Riva, G., Mantovani, F., Capideville, C. S., Preziosa, A., Morganti, F., Villani, D., Gaggioli, A., Botella, C., & Alcañiz, M. (2007). Affective interactions using virtual reality: The link between presence and emotions. *Cyberpsychology and Behavior*, 10(1), 45–56. https://doi.org/10.1089/cpb.2006.9993

Robinson, J. D., & Turner, J. (2003). Impersonal, interpersonal, and hyperpersonal social support:

Cancer and older adults. *Health Communication*, 15(2), 227–234. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327027HC1502_10

- Roter, D. L., Hall, J. A., & Aoki, Y. (2002). Physician gender effects in medical communication: A meta-analytic review. *Jama*, 288(6), 756–764. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.288.6.756
- Roulston, K., & Shelton, S. A. (2015). Reconceptualizing Bias in Teaching Qualitative Research Methods. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 21(4), 332–342. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800414563803
- Ruppel, E. K., Gross, C., Stoll, A., Peck, B. S., Allen, M., & Kim, S. Y. (2017). Reflecting on Connecting: Meta-Analysis of Differences Between Computer- Mediated and Face-to-Face Self-Disclosure. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 22(1), 18–34. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcc4.12179
- Salmon, P. (2000). Patients who present physical symptoms in the absence of physical pathology: A challenge to existing models of doctor-patient interaction. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 39(1), 105–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0738-3991(99)00095-6
- Saunders, B., Sim, J., Kingstone, T., Baker, S., Waterfield, J., Bartlam, B., Burroughs, H., & Jinks, C. (2018). Saturation in qualitative research: exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. *Quality and Quantity*, 52(4), 1893–1907. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8
- Sauppé, A., & Mutlu, B. (2014). How social cues shape task coordination and communication. *CSCW*, 97–108.
- Scott, G. G., & Fullwood, C. (2020). Does recent research evidence support the Hyperpersonal model of online impression management? *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 36, 106–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2020.05.005
- Scott Kruse, C., Karem, P., Shifflett, K., Vegi, L., Ravi, K., & Brooks, M. (2018). Evaluating barriers to adopting telemedicine worldwide: A systematic review. *Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare*, 24(1), 4–12. https://doi.org/10.1177/1357633X16674087
- Shumaker, S. A., & Brownell, A. (1984). Toward a Theory of Social Support: Closing Conceptual Gaps. *Journal of Social Issues*, 40(4), 11–36. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-4560.1984.tb01105.x
- Singh, S., Evans, N., Williams, M., Sezginis, N., & Baryeh, N. A. K. (2018). Influences of Socio-Demographic Factors and Health Utilization Factors on Patient-Centered Provider Communication. *Health Communication*, 33(7), 917–923. https://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2017.1322481
- Śliwińska, Z., Makara-Studzińska, M., & Śliwiński, Z. (2015). The patient-doctor relationship a psychological perspective. *Medical Studies*, *3*, 223–228. https://doi.org/10.5114/ms.2015.54764

- Sobczak, J. R. (2023). Anxiety, Depression, and Needed Support Among Caregivers of Breast Cancer Survivors. University of Arizona.
- Spake, D. F., & Bishop, J. S. (2009). The impact of perceived closeness on the differing roles of satisfaction, trust, commitment, and comfort on intention to remain with a physician. *Health Marketing Quarterly*, 26(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/07359680802473281
- Spar, D., & Bussgang, J. (1996). Ruling Commerce in the Networld. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 2(1).
- Spears, R., & Lea, M. (1992). Social influence and the influence of the "social" in computermediated communication. (M. Lea (Ed.)). Harvester Wheatsheaf.
- Spooner, K. K., Salemi, J. L., Salihu, H. M., & Zoorob, R. J. (2017). EHealth patient- provider communication in the United States: Interest, inequalities, and predictors. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*, 24(e1), e18–e27. https://doi.org/10.1093/jamia/ocw087
- Sundar, S. S. (2007). Social psychology of interactivity in human-website interaction. In & U.-D. R. A. N. Joinson, K. Y. A. McKenna, T. Postmes (Ed.), *The Oxford handbook of Internet psychology* (pp. 89–104). Ocford University Press.
- Sundar, S. S. (2008). The MAIN model: A heuristic approach to understanding technology effects on credibility. *Digital Media, Youth, and Credibility*, 73–100. https://doi.org/10.1162/dmal.9780262562324.073
- Sundar, S. S., Jia, H., Waddell, T. F., & Huang, Y. (2015). Toward a theory of interactive media effects (TIME) four models for explaining how interface features affect user psychology. *The Handbook of the Psychology of Communication Technology*, 2015, 47–86. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118426456.ch3
- Svensson, L. G. (2006). New professionalism, trust and competence: Some conceptual remarks and empirical data. *Current Sociology*, 54(4), 579–593. https://doi.org/10.1177/0011392106065089
- Tachakra, S., & Rajani, R. (2002). Social presence in telemedicine. *Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare*, 8(4), 226–230. https://doi.org/10.1258/135763302320272202
- Tardy, C. H. (1985). Social Support Measurement. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 13(2), 187-.
- Tepper, D. T., & Haase, R. F. (1978). Verbal and nonverbal communication of facilitative conditions. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 25(1), 35–44. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.25.1.35

Thornton, R. L. J., Powe, N. R., Roter, D., & Cooper, L. A. (2011). Patient-physician social

concordance, medical visit communication and patients' perceptions of health care quality. *Patient Education and Counseling*, *85*(3), e201–e208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2011.07.015

- Uchino, B. N. (2006). Social support and health: A review of physiological processes potentially underlying links to disease outcomes. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 29(4), 377–387. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10865-006-9056-5
- Uscher-Pines, L., Sousa, J., Raja, P., Mehrotra, A., Barnett, M. L., & Huskamp, H. A. (2020).Suddenly becoming a "Virtual doctor": Experiences of psychiatrists transitioning to telemedicine during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Psychiatric Services*, 71(11), 1143– 1150. https://doi.org/10.1176/APPI.PS.202000250
- Van Velsen, L., Wildevuur, S., Flierman, I., Van Schooten, B., Tabak, M., & Hermens, H. (2016). Trust in telemedicine portals for rehabilitation care: An exploratory focus group study with patients and healthcare professionals eHealth/ telehealth/ mobile health systems. *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making*, 16(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12911-016-0250-2
- Varkey, P., Schumacher, K., Swanton, C., Timm, B., & Hagen, P. T. (2008). Telemedicine in the work site: A study of feasibility, and patient and provider satisfaction. *Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare*, 14(6), 322–325. https://doi.org/10.1258/jtt.2008.080512
- Velavan, T. P., & Meyer, C. G. (2020). The COVID-19 epidemic. *Tropical Medicine and International Health*, 25(3), 278–280. https://doi.org/10.1111/tmi.13383
- Vidolov, S. (2022). Uncovering the affective affordances of videoconference technologies. Information Technology and People, 771217. https://doi.org/10.1108/ITP-04-2021-0329
- Walther, J. B. (1992). Interpersonal Effects in Computer-Mediated Interaction: A Relational Perspective. *Communication Research*, 19(1), 52–90.
- Walther, J. B. (1996). Computer-mediated communication impersonal, interpersonal, and hyperpersonal interaction. *Communication Research*, 23(1), 3–43.
- Walther, J. B., Anderson, J. F., & Park, D. W. (1994). Interpersonal Effects in Computer-Mediated Interaction: A Meta-Analysis of Social and Antisocial Communication. In *Communication Research* (Vol. 21, Issue 4, pp. 460–487). https://doi.org/10.1177/009365094021004002
- Walther, J. B., & Boyd, S. (2002). Attraction to computer-mediated social support. In *Communication technology and society: Audience adoption and uses* (pp. 153–188).
- Wechsler, L. R., Tsao, J. W., Levine, S. R., Swain-Eng, R. J., Adams, R. J., Demaerschalk, B. M., Hess, D. C., Moro, E., Schwamm, L. H., Steffensen, S., Stern, B. J., Zuckerman, S. J., Bhattacharya, P., Davis, L. E., Yurkiewicz, I. R., & Alphonso, A. L. (2013).

Teleneurology applications: Report of the telemedicine work group of the American Academy of Neurology. *Neurology*, *80*(7), 670–676. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e3182823361

- Weiner, J. P. (2012). Doctor-patient communication in the e-health era. *Israel Journal of Health Policy Research*, 1(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/2045-4015-1-33
- Whitten, P., & Buis, L. (2008). Use of telemedicine for haemodialysis: Perceptions of patients and health-care providers, and clinical effects. *Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare*, 14(2), 75–78. https://doi.org/10.1258/jtt.2007.070411
- Whitten, P., Buis, L., & Love, B. (2007). Physician-patient e-visit programs: Implementation and appropriateness. *Disease Management and Health Outcomes*, 15(4), 207–214. https://doi.org/10.2165/00115677-200715040-00002
- Whitten, P., Collins, B., & Mair, F. (1998). Nurse and patient reactions to a developmental home telecare system. *Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare*, 4(3), 152–160. https://doi.org/10.1258/1357633981932136
- Whitten, P., & Holtz, B. E. (2008). Provider Utilization of Telemedicine: The Elephant in the Room. *Https://Home.Liebertpub.Com/Tmj*, 14(9), 995–997. https://doi.org/10.1089/TMJ.2008.0126
- Whitten, P., Holtz, B., & LaPlante, C. (2010). Telemedicine. What have we learned? *Applied Clinical Informatics*, 1, 132–141. https://doi.org/10.4338/aci-2009-12-r-0020
- Whitten, P., Holtz, B., & Nguyen, L. (2010). Keys to a successful and sustainable telemedicine program. *International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care*, *26*(2), 211–216. https://doi.org/10.1017/S026646231000005X
- Whitten, P., & Mackert, M. S. (2005). Addressing telehealth's foremost barrier: Provider as initial gatekeeper. *International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care*, 21(4), 517–521. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0266462305050725
- Wilhite, J. A., Altshuler, L., Fisher, H., Gillespie, C., Hanley, K., Goldberg, E., Wallach, A., & Zabar, S. (2022). The Telemedicine Takeover: Lessons Learned During an Emerging Pandemic. *Telemedicine and E-Health*, 28(3), 353–361. https://doi.org/10.1089/tmj.2021.0035
- Wong, A., Bhyat, R., Srivastava, S., Lomax, L. B., & Appireddy, R. (2021). Patient Care during the COVID-19 Pandemic:Use of Virtual Care. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 23(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.2196/20621
- Wu, Y., Sun, Y., & Shyam Sundar, S. (2022). What Do You Get from Turning on Your Video? Effects of Videoconferencing Affordances on Remote Class Experience During COVID-19. Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction, 6(2 CSCW). https://doi.org/10.1145/3555773

- Yang, J. (2023). Number of female physicians in the U.S. in 2023, by state. Statista.
- Yang, J. (2024). *Total number of active physicians in the U.S., as of January 2024, by state.* Statista.
- Zhou, Y., Acevedo Callejas, M. L., Li, Y., & MacGeorge, E. L. (2021). What Does Patient-Centered Communication Look Like?: Linguistic Markers of Provider Compassionate Care and Shared Decision-Making and Their Impacts on Patient Outcomes. *Health Communication*, 00(00), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2021.1989139

APPENDIX A: INTERVIEW GUIDE

- 1. Social Support
 - a. How would you define social support in patient care?i. PROBE: What is social support to you?
 - b. For this study, I define social support as enacting verbal and nonverbal behaviors to provide assistance/help to patients (MacGeorge et al., 2011, p. 317; Nazione et al., 2020).
 - c. Using that definition, what do you say or do to help patients?
 - d. What does this help (i.e., social support) look like in face-toface (or in- person) patient care?
 - i. PROBES:
 - 1. Listening
 - 2. Giving information
 - 3. Talk about their interests
 - 4. Let them know they are doing well following their medical plan (e.g., taking their medications)
 - 5. Let them know it's a safe space
 - 6. Assist with goal setting
 - 7. Physical touch (e.g., hand on shoulder)
 - 8. Etc.
 - e. What does this help (i.e., social support) look like in virtual patient care (i.e., telemedicine visits)?
 - i. PROBE: How (if at all) is it different from in-person care?
 - f. Why do you (if you do) provide help (i.e., social support) to your patients?i. PROBE: What motivates you to provide help (i.e., support)?
- 2. Telemedicine
 - a. How do you establish rapport with patients via telemedicine?
 - b. How does telemedicine impact your ability to communicate with patients about their medical situation?
 - c. How does telemedicine impact your ability to help (i.e., provide support) to patients about their medical situation?
 - d. Tell me about your ability to feel empathy for a patient within a telemedicine visit.
 - e. Do you use any nonverbal cues to enhance communication via telemedicine?
 - i. PROBE: Are these different in telemedicine than in-person?
 - f. What do you like about helping (i.e., providing support) patients via telemedicine?
 - i. Probe about the benefits, no shows, etc.
 - g. What do you dislike about helping (i.e., providing
 - support) patients via telemedicine?
 - i. Probe about challenges, patients can't connect, can't

see the non-verbal's, etc.

- 3. Technology Features and Affordances
 - a. Describe how you feel when you are interacting with someone via telemedicine particularly someone you want to provide support to.
 - i. PROBE: Nervous? Confident?
 - ii. Describe the engagement of your patients (likely a range)
 - 1. What was your impression of your patient's awareness of you being in the virtual space with them? (i.e., did they make eye contact with you or provide other non- verbal behaviors that made you aware of their engagement in the conversation?)
 - b. What technology features (i.e., capabilities of a technology, e.g., ability to chat in Zoom) are important to you in telemedicine?
 - i. What do these features allow you to do?
 - ii. What features are important specifically for social support?
 - c. What do you wish telemedicine could do?
 - i. What technology features are missing in telemedicine?
 - ii. How could telemedicine be improved?
 - 1. Particularly for providing support to your patients.
 - iii. Consider even "futuristic" ideas.
 - iv. What would these features allow you to do?
 - v. What features would be helpful for providing social support?
 - d. What are your thoughts about the screen share feature in telemedicine technology?
 - i. How does (or would) this feature impact your interaction with your patient, if at all?
 - e. What are your thoughts about the chat feature in telemedicine technology?
 - i. How does (or would) this feature impact your interaction with your patient, if at all?
 - f. What are your thoughts about the recording feature in telemedicine technology?
 - i. How does (or would) this feature impact your interaction with your patient, if at all?
 - g. Are there any other features that come to mind now that we have discussed a few that could be important to you in telemedicine?
 - i. What do these features allow you to do?
- 4. Social Presence
 - a. What are your feelings about telemedicine as a medium for communicating and providing social support?
 - b. Tell me about your ability to form impressions of your patients via telemedicine.
 - c. How do you feel about the realness of your patient when communicating with them via telemedicine?

- i. PROBE: Does your patient feel like a real person or are they more abstract?
- d. How would you describe the communication with your patients within telemedicine?
 - i. PROBE: Personal or impersonal
 - ii. PROBE: Insensitive or sensitive
 - iii. PROBE: Cold or warm
 - iv. PROBE: Passive or active
- 5. Scenarios
 - a. I am going to read a few short scenarios depicting interactions with patients via telemedicine. These scenarios are examples of patients in a heightened emotional state. As the medical provider, what would you say and/or do in these situations?
 - i. A 15-year-old patient who you have seen before is accompanied by her mother and comes to a telemedicine visit with you to discuss birth control options. During the discussion, the mother continues to express disagreement with her daughter's decision to become sexually active. You can sense that there is conflict between the mother and daughter.
 - ii. You enter the zoom room and greet a long-term patient and notice that she is tearful. She states, "I'm just having a bad day."
 - iii. A 42-year-old man with a history of total hip arthroplasty presented for a new patient visit via telemedicine with complaints of hip pain. One year ago, he had a displaced left femoral neck fracture requiring total hip arthroplasty with subsequent chronic hip pain. His pain was managed by his orthopedist with oxycodone and more recently with ibuprofen. Recent extensive reevaluation of his hip pain was negative. He requested that you prescribe something stronger like "oxys" for his pain, as the ibuprofen was ineffective. You can tell that he's agitated and is making comments about you not believing that he is still in pain.

APPENDIX B: DEMOGRAPHIC MEASURES

Did you provide telemedicine services before January 2020 (the start of the COVID-19 pandemic)?

- 1. Yes, I provided telemedicine on or before December 2019
 - a. If yes, how long have you been providing telemedicine services?
- 2. No, I provided telemedicine for the first time in 2020

How many of your patient visits use telemedicine?

- 1. Nearly all visits
- 2. A large majority of the visits
- 3. About half of the visits
- 4. Some of the visits
- 5. Hardly any visits
- 6. No visits

How confident are you in your ability to successfully conduct a telemedicine visit?

- 1. Very confident
- 2. Somewhat confident
- 3. Neutral
- 4. Somewhat unconfident
- 5. Very unconfident

Do you think that you will provide telemedicine services in the future?

- 1. Yes
- 2. No
- 3. Unsure

To which gender identity do you most identify?

- 1. Female
- 2. Male
- 3. Transgendered Female
- 4. Transgendered Male
- 5. Gender Non-Conforming
- 6. Not listed,
- 7. Prefer not to answer

What is your age in years? ___

What is your household

income?

- 1. \$49,999 or below
- 2. \$50,000 to 74,999
- 3. \$75,000 to \$99,999

- 4. \$100,000 to \$199,999
- 5. \$200,000 to \$299,999
- 6. \$300,000 or more
- 7. Prefer not to answer

Please indicate your professional degree.

- 1. Nurse Practitioner (NP)
- 2. Physician's Assistant (PA)
- 3. Doctor of Osteopathic Medicine (DO)
- 4. Medical Doctor (MD)
- 5. Doctor of Osteopathic Medicine (DO) and Doctor of Philosophy (PhD)
- 6. Medical Doctor (MD) and Doctor of Philosophy (PhD)

Please indicate your medical specialty (and subspecialty if applicable).

- 1. Allergy & Immunology, subspecialty:
- 2. Anesthesiology, subspecialty:
- 3. Dermatology, subspecialty:
- 4. Radiology, subspecialty:
- 5. Emergency Medicine, subspecialty:
- 6. Family Medicine, subspecialty:
- 7. Internal Medicine, subspecialty:
- 8. Genetics, subspecialty:
- 9. Neurology, subspecialty:
- 10. Obstetrics and Gynecology, subspecialty:
- 11. Ophthalmology, subspecialty:
- 12. Pathology, subspecialty:
- 13. Pediatrics, subspecialty:
- 14. Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation, subspecialty:
- 15. Preventive Medicine, subspecialty:
- 16. Psychiatry, subspecialty:
- 17. Surgery, subspecialty:
- 18. Urology, subspecialty:

How long have you been practicing medicine?

- 1. Resident
- 2. <5 years
- 3. 5-10 years
- 4. 11-20 years
- 5. 21-30 years
- 6. >30 years

How would you describe the organization of your practice?

- 1. private practice
- 2. hospital employee
- 3. government
- 4. other

What is your race? (select all that apply)

- 1. White
- 2. Black or African-American
- 3. American Indian, Alaska Native, Native Hawaiian
- 4. Asian Indian
- 5. Asian:
- 6. Pacific Islander:
- 7. Other: _____
- 8. Prefer not to answer

Are you of Hispanic, Latino, or Spanish origin?

- 1. No, I am not of Hispanic, Latino, or Spanish origin
- 2. Yes, Mexican, Mexican American, Chicano
- 3. Yes, Puerto Rican
- 4. Yes, Cuban
- 5. Yes, another Hispanic, Latino or Spanish origin:

What is your zip code? ____